
MAYOR  CITY MANAGER 

Shirley Sessions Dr. Shawn Gillen 

 
CITY COUNCIL CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Barry Brown, Mayor Pro Tem Jan LeViner 

Brian West  

Jay Burke CITY ATTORNEY 
Nancy DeVetter Edward M. Hughes 

Spec Hosti 
Monty Parks  

 CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

March 23, 2023 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation – Jan LeViner, Clerk 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda 
 
Announcements 
 
Recognitions and Proclamations 

1. Jaime Spear:  Employee of the Year:  Danielle Bucher, Finance Department 
 
Consideration of the approval of the minutes of the meetings of the Tybee island City Council 

2. Minutes, City Council Meeting, March 9, 2023 
 
Reports of Staff, Boards, Standing Committees and/or Invited Guest.  Limit reports to 10 
minutes. 

3. Presentation of the Tourism Economic Impact Study by Georgia Southern University 
Center for Business Analytics and Economic Research & EDA University Center Program  

 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 3 minutes.  Maximum allowable times of 5 
minutes. 

4. Julie Livingston:  Golf Cart Safety 
 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda other than the Public Hearing, 
please come forward.  Please limit your comments to 3-5 minutes 
 
Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
 
 
 

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

Consideration of Local Requests & Applications – Funding, Special Events, Alcohol License 
5. Agenda Request: Frozen Daiquiri LLC dba The Daiquiri Bar: Alcohol and Entertainment 

License-Beer/Wine/Liquor - No Sunday Sales, 1504 Butler Ave, Piped in/Recorded Music 
Only-no live music 

6. Agenda Request: Fin's Corner Pizza-Entertainment License, 1605 Inlet Ave 
 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 

7. Approval for travel to Association of State Floodplain Managers Conference, Out of state 
travel to the ASFPM annual conference in Raleigh, NC. May 7-11, 
2023 for George Shaw. Budget 52-3500 

8. RFP 2023-771 Disaster Debris Removal 
9. Budget Amendment - Legal Fees 
10. Consider approval to request GMEBS to draft the necessary documents for 

the recommended changes to the employee pension plan. 
11. TIMSC Portable Restroom - Agreement with Royal Restrooms 
12.  Public Works and Georgia Power to replace 32 streetlights along Tybrisa and Strand 

Avenue for $350,000. 
 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 

13. Shawn Gillen:  Action Item List 
 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
Adjournment 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 
*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 
should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 

meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 

prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 
Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 2 -

http://www.cityoftybee.org/


File Attachments for Item:

2. Minutes, City Council Meeting, March 9, 2023

- Page 3 -Item #2.



City Council Minutes, March 9, 2023 
 
Mayor Sessions called the meeting to order at 6:30PM, February 23, 2023.  Those in 
attendance were Brian West, Monty Parks, Barry Brown, and Spec Hosti.  Also attending 
were Dr. Shawn Gillen, City Manager; Michelle Owens, Assistant City Manager; Bubba 
Hughes, City Attorney; Tracy O’Connell, City Attorney; George Shaw, Planning and Zoning 
and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.  Jay Burke was excused. 
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Posting of the Colors and Pledge of Allegiance, American Legion Post 154 
     Invocation:  Sue Jackson, Trinity Methodist Church 
 
Mayor Sessions added the following to the Consent Agenda: 

 Minutes:  City Council Meeting February 2, 2023 
 Resolution:  2023-04, Opposition to HB 517 

 
Reports of Staff, Boards, Standing Committees and/or Invited Guest.  Limit 
reports to 10 minutes. 
Pat Leiby approached Mayor and Council to give an update on the Tybee MLK Human 
Rights Organization.  Ms. Leiby stated Lazaretto Day will be held on March 25, 2023 
at Memorial Parks and invited everyone to come.  Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. Leiby for 
all the work she and her committee have done for the Organization. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  Monty Parks seconded.  
Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0.   
 
Public Hearings 
Map and Text Amendment to change zoning from R-1 to R-T.  Fort Screven Villas 
Condo Association.  George Shaw approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Shaw stated there are 
nine (9) condominiums that sit on a lot that is zoned R-1 on the current Zoning Map.  There is 
confusion why they were built in an R-1 block and are non-conforming use.  There is some 
discrepancy on previous maps that may have been R-T or believed to be R-T at the time but the 
current Zoning Map has the parcel as R-1.  The applicant wishes to rezone the parcel to R-T, 
which would make it conforming.  Staff recommends approval and the Planning Commission voted 
to deny 4-2.  Mr. Hosti stated he recommends the zoning as it seems it was a mistake in the past 
and probably should have been changed at that time.  Ms. DeVetter asked Mr. Shaw if this type 
of development be compliant in R-2.  Mr. Shaw responded, no.  Ms. DeVetter asked Mr. Shaw to 
discuss the Planning Commission’s recommendations.  Mr. Shaw stated their main objections 
were:  (1) of the nine (9) units, some are already Short Term Rentals (STR’s); and (2) the building 
getting larger. Mr. Parks thanked Mr. Shaw for following up on the Disclosures from the Planning 
Commission Meeting.  Mayor pro tem Brown expressed his concerns with the two (2) units that 
are not STR’s and if the zoning were to change they could apply for a license.  Mr. Shaw 
confirmed.  Dr. West asked for clarification of the surrounding units in the area.  Mayor Sessions 
read from the minutes from the City Council Meetings on October 14, 1999 and December 9, 
1999 as there was a great deal of discussion regarding the number of units and zoning issues.   
Mr. Hughes stated he also read the minutes from those dates.  The meeting on December 9, 

- Page 4 -Item #2.



1999, Mayor and Council voted for final approval of Special Review and Site Plan Approval for the 
structure to be built.  Most recently is the current application before them tonight.  Mr. Hughes 
stated for the record, the current Zoning Map is in the room.  He continued, the current map 
evolved from the dispute in 1999 regarding the validity of the then map and in order to solve the 
issues, there was a long process in adopting a new map.  It has also been amended several times 
and the amendments are reflected on the map.  The proposal before them tonight is to have the 
text change with respect to the particular parcel and the map amendment.   Chris Lane 
approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Lane stated he represents the Fort Screven Condominium 
Association and his client(s) humbly requests the City amend the Zoning Map and text to conform 
to the existing use of the property.  This is a request with no ulterior motives other than 
conforming the Zoning Map and text.  Mr. Lane gave a brief history of the property and in his 
view, certain perils homeowners could face in the future might be financing as the property is 
zoned R-1 and is a non-conforming.  He further stated, if a disaster were to hit Tybee, the 
homeowner could face challenges regarding insurance coverage due to the exclusions based in 
the policy as well as rebuilding in the same footprint and using the same non-conforming use.  
Mr. Lane again requested that zoning be conformed so his client(s) not worry about potential 
issues.  Mr. Hosti asked Mr. Shaw how many situations like this are on the Island.  Mr. Shaw 
responded, there a number of non-conforming structures on the Island especially in the R-2 
District.  Mayor Sessions referred to the minutes from 1999 and the process used for the Public 
Hearing regarding the zoning of the property.  Mr. Hughes responded Mayor and Council dealt 
with multiple different issues regarding Ocean View Court, which was resolved by the new Zoning 
Map. It was not their intention to change anything from what it was just to fix the other lot, which 
happened to be in the same neighborhood (lot 5) which was solved.  With regard to this property 
before them tonight, Mayor and Council did approve the nine (9) condominium units.  There was 
a discussion regarding the agenda and motions from the meeting in December 1999 regarding 
the LDC and map amendments.  Mr. Hughes stated as a result of that meeting, Mayor and Council 
ultimately approved the building as nine (9) condominium units.   Keith Gay approached Mayor 
and Council.   Mr. Gay stating during that time, the front part of the beachfront was being 
developed and the concerns were the beachfront would be developed with condominiums.   He 
continued several owners approached him with concerns:  (1) financing and (2) insurance.  Mr. 
Gay stated he has been under the impression that this property is zoned R-T as are the buildings 
to the north.  He encouraged Mayor and Council to correct an unintended mistake in 1999.   Mr. 
Parks stated the property is clearly non-conforming and has been for several years.  He expressed 
his concerns with adjoining properties that are zoned R-1 and how Mayor and Council deal with 
their zoning.  Mr. Gay approached Mayor and Council and recommended zoning for neighboring 
condominiums be changed to R-T, revisit zoning and align the zoning. Mr. Parks stated a solution 
would be to zone each unit as R-T but would like the option to explore other avenues.  He asked 
if this agenda item is time sensitive.  There was no response.  Dr. West stated in reviewing the 
current Zoning Map there are numerous properties in that area that are zoned R-T and it makes 
sense, in this situation, the entire area should be zoned R-T.  Spec Hosti made a motion to 
approve.  Brian West seconded.  Voting in favor of the motion were Spec Hosti and Brian West.  
Those opposed were Monty Parks, Nancy DeVetter and Barry Brown.  Motion failed 2-3.  Monty 
Parks made a motion to have a Study done to level everyone in this situation so it can be 
addressed and an update come back to Mayor and Council in thirty days with options to level up 
the other multi-unit families in R-1 and R-T.   Brian West seconded.  Voting in favor were Brian 
West, Monty Parks and Spec Hosti.  Voting against were Barry Brown and Nancy DeVetter.  Motion 
to approve Study, 3-2.  Discussion:  Ms. DeVetter stated the reason she voted against the 
motion is this needs to be dealt with on a case-by-case basis, as it seems the properties are going 
to be different.  Mr. Parks continued, he would like to have a systematic method of dealing with 

- Page 5 -Item #2.



 

all the multi-family units on the Island that are non-conforming currently.  Dr. Gillen stated in 
thirty days he would be able to come back to Mayor and Council and give an update as to where 
they are in the process.  Mayor and Council confirmed.   
 
Special Review:  1517 and 1517B Chatham Avenue.  Sarah and Ben Beason. George 
Shaw approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Shaw stated the petitioner owns both properties, one 
is on Chatham Avenue and one is behind on the Back River.  The petitioner would like to combine 
into one property.  The existing residence would become guest quarters and the new residence 
would be their primary structure.  Staff recommended approval and Planning Commission 
unanimously recommended approval.  Jay Moffitt approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Moffitt 
stated he is the engineer for the property and representing the owners Mr. and Mrs. Beason.   
Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  Brian West seconded.  Vote was unanimous to 
approve, 5-0. 

 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 

 Brian West:  Modify Tree Ordinance.  Dr. West discussed the current tree ordinance 
and recommended Mayor and Council reconvene a group to review the current ordinance 
and come back with recommendations. 
 
Monty Parks made a motion to adjourn to executive session to discuss litigation, 
personnel, and real estate. Brian West seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-
0. 
 
Monty Parks made a motion to return to regular session.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote 
was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was unanimous 
to approve, 5-0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 8:30PM 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 

- Page 6 -Item #2.



File Attachments for Item:

3. Presentation of the Tourism Economic Impact Study by Georgia Southern University Center 

for Business Analytics and Economic Research & EDA University Center Program 

- Page 7 -Item #3.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: March 23
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Presentation of the Tourism Economic Impact Study by Georgia Southern
University Center for Business Analytics and Economic Research & EDA University
Center Program

No action necessary. For information purposes only.

Tybee.Island.Toursim.Economic.Impact Report.pdf

- Page 8 -Item #3.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1841809/Tybee.Island.Toursim.Economic.Impact_Report.pdf


 
 

 

 

 

 

Tybee Island Tourism  

Economic Impact Study  
 

 

 

 

Prepared for  

City of Tybee Island & 

Visit Tybee Island 
 

Prepared by 

Center for Business Analytics and Economic Research & 
EDA University Center Program 

Georgia Southern University 

February 23, 2023 

 

  

- Page 9 -Item #3.



 
 

 

 

 

Tybee Island Tourism Economic Impact Study 
 
 

Prepared by 
Center for Business Analytics and Economic Research & 

EDA University Center Program 
Georgia Southern University 

 

 

 

Acknowledgements 
Thank you to the dedicated graduate and undergraduate students that regularly worked to 

collect the in-person survey responses, enter this data, and prepare parts of this report. These 
students include Lizbeth Avendano, Shirneal Handfield, Taniyah Johnson, Adewale Osifowokan, 

Amari Royster, and Randall (Scotty) Talarek. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This report was funded by the City of Tybee Island and Visit Tybee Island which is part of Visit 
Savannah. Additional support for this research project was provided by the EDA University 

Center at Georgia Southern University. 

 

- Page 10 -Item #3.



i 
 

Executive Summary 
This study aims to estimate the economic impact of the tourism economy on Tybee Island, 
Georgia. The Center for Business Analytics and Economic Research (CBAER) at Georgia Southern 
University conducted online and in-person surveys to acquire information about the economic 
behavior of island visitors. The survey process began in July 2021 and was completed in 
September 2022. This timeframe ensured that all four quarters of the calendar year were 
included in the analysis. CBAER collected over 4,000 usable responses between the online and 
in-person collections. These survey results were analyzed by CBAER and combined with 
information from data sources to estimate the economic impact of visits to Tybee Island. 
Outlined in the bullet points is the summary of findings for this analysis. 

The Typical Tybee Island Visitor 

• Traveled to Tybee Island by personal vehicle (84.3%) 
• Traveling with other people (95.3%) 
• Non-Georgia resident (61.2%) 
• Aged 35 to 64 (69%) 
• Married/Long-term relationship (77.2%) 
• Household income of more than $100,000 (58.4%) 

Visitation 

• 1.9 million annual visitors; 1.7 million annual tourist visitors (outside a 50-mile radius) 
o 5.6% from Chatham County (excluding Tybee Island) 
o 33.2% from Georgia (excluding Chatham County) 
o 61.2% from out-of-state 

• 61.8% had visited the island at least once in the 12 months prior to surveying  
• Overall total day trip visits compared to overnight visitors 

o 61% day trips visits1 
o 39% overnight visits  

• Tybee Island overnighters stayed an average of 4.5 nights. 
• Average party size was 4.3 persons. 
• Most day visitors stayed on Tybee for 3 to 5 hours. 

Tybee Island Accommodations 

• 51.0% of Tybee overnight visitors stayed in vacation rentals; 32.8% stayed in 
hotels/motels/resorts.  

• Tybee Island overnighters accounted for a yearly average of 1,188,160 room-nights.  
• Average spending on accommodations per night per party per trip is $339. 

 
1Combined regional day visitor and Savannah overnight visitors 

- Page 11 -Item #3.



ii 
 

Spending per person per day (non-accommodations) 

• Tybee overnight visitors: $106 
• Tybee day visitors: $59 
• Savannah overnight visitors: $123 (in Savannah and Tybee combined) 

Economic and Tax Collection Impact linked to Tourist Spending  

• Total on-island business revenue (output) is $215.16 million, while total off-island 
business revenue (output) reached $612.38 million. 

• Total on-island employment linked to tourist spending reached 1,902, while the off-
island total hit 6,174.  

• Tax collections for the City of Tybee Island reached $1.3 million in sales tax, $1.8 million 
in property, and $8.5 million in lodging taxes.  

  

- Page 12 -Item #3.



iii 
 

Table of Contents 
Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................................ i 

Introduction .................................................................................................................................................. 1 

Visitor Survey Analysis .................................................................................................................................. 2 

Survey Participants and Point of Origin .................................................................................................... 3 

Demographics ........................................................................................................................................... 6 

Travel Details ............................................................................................................................................. 7 

Visit Frequency and Length of Stay ........................................................................................................... 8 

Accommodations and Room Nights ......................................................................................................... 9 

Visitor Satisfaction .................................................................................................................................. 11 

Economic Impact Analysis ........................................................................................................................... 14 

On-island City of Tybee Island Economic Impact .................................................................................... 15 

Off-island Tybee Island Visitor Spending Impact on Chatham County ................................................... 15 

Tax Collections Linked the Visitor Spending ........................................................................................... 16 

Tourist Spending and Inputs for IMPLAN ................................................................................................ 17 

Fiscal Analysis: Comparison of Non-Coastal Cities in Georgia .................................................................... 19 

Comparison Group .................................................................................................................................. 19 

Financial Statement Analysis .................................................................................................................. 20 

Location Quotient (LQ) Analysis .............................................................................................................. 22 

Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................... 24 

Appendix A: Complete List of Visitor Point of Origin .................................................................................. 25 

Appendix B: IMPLAN Model ........................................................................................................................ 27 

Appendix C: Comparison of 2023 and 2015 Reports .................................................................................. 30 

Appendix D: Financial Statements of Comparison Cities Reference List .................................................... 31 

 

 

 

 
  

- Page 13 -Item #3.



iv 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page was intentionally left blank. 

 

- Page 14 -Item #3.



1 
 

Introduction 
Tourism is one of the leading contributors to the regional economy. Since 2010, the tourism 
industry has increased employment annually by 3.5 percent in the Savannah area.2 One factor 
influencing visitor interest in the area is the availability of unique and vibrant beach 
communities. One of the most popular local places to visit is Tybee Island, Georgia. 

Visitor demand for a coastal vacation has influenced the development of a strong tourism 
industry on Tybee Island, which has created an interest in estimating the economic impact that 
this industry has on Tybee Island. In this report, the Center for Business Analytics and Economic 
Research (CBAER) at Georgia Southern University has estimated the economic and fiscal impact 
of the tourism industry on this community. This report builds on a similar economic impact 
analysis completed in 2015 by faculty at Georgia Southern University Armstrong Campus 
(previously Armstrong State University). CBAER followed a similar methodology to the previous 
report to ensure consistency between the two documents, allowing stakeholders to monitor 
changes over time. 

CBAER has split the remainder of this report into three major sections. First, the results of a 
visitor survey are presented. This data was collected using one questionnaire emailed to visitors 
staying on the island or via one live face-to-face interview. Next, the economic impact analysis 
is discussed. This section includes the economic impact of Tybee Island visitor spending on 
Chatham County and the City of Tybee Island. Finally, in the fiscal analysis section, CBAER 
compared tax collection and spending on services between the City of Tybee Island and other 
similarly sized local governments without a strong tourism industry. This section highlights the 
differences between the City of Tybee Island and other similar-sized communities in Georgia. 

 

 
2 “Savannah 2023 Economic Trends,” Savannah Area Chamber, http://savannah.uberflip.com/savannah-
chamber/2023-economic-trends-brochure 

- Page 15 -Item #3.



2 
 

Visitor Survey Analysis  
CBAER began the analysis by developing a new questionnaire based on national and regional 
trends in the tourism industry that captures changes in visitor preferences. This updated 
instrument incorporated several major elements from the questionnaire used in the 2015 
study. CBAER also incorporated information from other questionnaires used in similar types of 
studies. The final questionnaire included questions that focused on visitor expenditures, length 
of stay, trip origin, type of accommodations used, visitor satisfaction, and demographics. All 
survey participants were at least 18 years old and not full-time residents of Tybee Island. 

Surveys were distributed in person and electronically using emails from July 2021 to September 
2022 so that all four quarters of the calendar year were covered. The mixed-use of in-person 
and emailed data collection helped to maximize participation. Additionally, the use of both data 
methods allowed the research team to gather demographic and trip characteristic information 
that better reflects the current mix of visitors. For example, only seven percent of online survey 
participants were aged 18 to 34, but this age group reached 33 percent of responses for in-
person surveys. The use of in-person surveying also allowed the collection of information about 
day visitors and Savannah overnight visitors. Online surveys were only sent to Tybee overnight 
visitors because visitor contact emails were provided by local accommodation providers. 

Emailed surveys were distributed through the platform Qualtrics using an anonymous link. After 
the online data was cleaned and unusable responses were removed, there were 3,202 valid 
responses collected. In-person data was collected across a variety of locations across Tybee 
Island; the most effective collection areas were the Tybee Island’s Pier and Pavilion, Middle 
Beach, and North Beach. Other locations used by CBAER for data collection included the 
lighthouse, the Marine Science Center parking lot, South Beach and downtown. In total, CBAER 
researchers collected data over 15 weekends during the data collection phase of the process. 
In-person surveying resulted in 1,338 completed surveys. The combined total of online and in-
person survey participation was 4,541 individual responses. Due to the partnership with local 
accommodation providers, total survey participant data overreports the percentage of 
overnight visitors to Tybee Island. To account for this, CBAER reports in-person data separately 
when appropriate. In the analysis of survey data, the percentages for each question were 
calculated based on the total number of responses to each question. Not all questions had the 
same number of responses due to skipping patterns within the survey instrument and other 
factors. This was expected by the research team and was accounted for in the analysis. 

The remainder of the section focuses on our analysis of the collected survey data. This analysis 
identifies the visitation and spending patterns of Tybee Island visitors. The research team has 
also collected and analyzed secondary data that highlights other aspects of the tourism market 
in this community. CBAER worked closely with the City of Tybee Island and Placer.ai to gather 
this data. Placer.ai data is a locations analytics company used by the City of Tybee Island to 
understand visitation patterns. Due to the timing of this analysis, Placer.ai data was available 

- Page 16 -Item #3.



3 
 

through October 2022. Therefore, the referenced 2022 Placer data covers the months January 
through October, which corresponds to the end of the primary data collection timeframe.  

Survey Participants and Point of Origin 
To begin the analysis of the survey data, CBAER focused on the primary residence of Tybee 
Island visitors or the point of origin for the trip. In the initial phase, the team split participants 
into one of three geographic groups: Chatham County, Georgia, and Out-of-State. For the 
remainder of this report, “Chatham County” will refer to all Chatham County residents, 
excluding Tybee Island residents, and “Inside Georgia,” or “Georgia Residents,” refers to all 
state residents, excluding Chatham County residents. Table 1 describes the breakdown of 
survey participants by geographic region. 

Table 1: Survey Participants Geographic Breakdown 

Geographic Groups 
All Survey 

Participants 
In-Person Survey 

Participants 
Chatham County (excluding Tybee Island) 5.6% 11.7% 
Georgia (excluding Chatham County) 33.2% 39.0% 
Out-of-State 61.2% 49.3% 

 
The underlining data in Table 1 came from ZIP Codes provided by survey participants. This 
allowed CBAER to take a closer look at the point of origin of survey participants. Tybee Island 
attracts visitors from all over the United States and even reaches a selection of international 
visitors (0.4 percent of survey participants). At least one visitor from nearly every continental 
U.S. state (except for Wyoming) participated in the survey. Placer reports visits from residents 
of all U.S. states. Using total survey information, the top ten states that produce the most 
frequent Tybee visitors are reported in Table 2 and compared to Placer Data. For a full list of 
states, see Appendix A. 

Table 2: Visitor Point of Origin Top 10 States 2021-2022 

CBAER Survey Data 

 

Placer Data 
  State % of Visitors   State % of Visitors 
1 Georgia 38.8 1 Georgia 41.6 
2 North Carolina 7.3 2 North Carolina 6.2 
3 South Carolina 7.0 3 South Carolina 5.8 
4 Tennessee 6.3 4 Florida 5.1 
5 Ohio 5.2 5 Tennessee 4.5 
6 Kentucky 2.8 6 Ohio 3.9 
7 Virginia 2.8 7 Kentucky 2.7 
8 Indiana 2.8 8 Virginia 2.6 
9 Florida 2.6 9 Alabama 2.3 

10 New York 2.5 10 Illinois 2.2 

- Page 17 -Item #3.



4 
 

The Georgia data in Table 2 includes the combination of Chatham County and Georgia 
responses presented in Table 1. The states in the top 10 list from the 2015 Tybee Island Study 
are also very similar to the lists presented in Table 2. Seven of the top ten states are shared 
between the 2015 and 2023 studies. These are Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, North Carolina, Ohio, 
South Carolina, and Tennessee. Also included in the 2015 top ten states are Alabama, Illinois, 
and West Virginia, which were replaced by Indiana, New York, and Virginia in the 2023 study. 
Alabama and Illinois also match recent Placer data. Despite the slight adjustments, the majority 
of visitors have come from the same states for nearly the last decade, and the regional draw of 
Tybee Island has not changed dramatically over this timeframe. 

The major difference between the 2015 and 2023 reports is a shift in the percentage of Georgia 
Visitors. In 2015, 72 percent of visitor came from Georgia while in 2023 only 38.8 percent came 
from Georgia. One factor that could account for this difference is the amount of data collected. 
First, in 2023 the results in Table 2 are based on 4,541 individual responses, with the majority of 
responses coming from overnight visitors to Tybee Island. In comparison, the 2015 report had 
1,278 responses total, which were mainly collected through in-person surveying. The increase 
in the number of responses and differences in collection methods have some impact on the 
data presented in Table 2. 

It is worth noting that the 2023 data collected by CBAER is comparable to the Placer data, which 
has a larger sample size. Although the order varies, eight of the top 10 states contributing to 
Tybee Island tourism are the same between both sources of information. The differing states 
are New York and Indiana in the CBAER data and Alabama and Illinois in the Placer data. These 
are relatively minor differences and there is generally regional consistency between these two 
sources. 

The following maps show the percentage of Tybee Island visitors’ primary residence at the 
three-digit zip code level for 2022. For example, Savannah zip code 31419 became 314. Visitor 
count was provided by Placer.ai and covered the months of January through October 2022. In 
2022, Placer recorded visitors from every U.S. state. The majority of zip codes across the 
country account for 0.1 percent or less of Tybee Island visitors. However, the percentage of 
visitors a zip code produces generally increases the nearer they are located to Tybee Island, 
particularly in the southeast, with the state of Georgia being the largest producer of visitors. 

A closer look at the state of Georgia reveals that zip codes 300, 304, 310, and 313 each produce 
between 4.94 and 10.06 percent of Tybee Island visitors. The next highest visitor-producing 
regions are zip codes 301, 302, 305, 306, and 308, as well as 296, located in South Carolina. 
These locations produce between 2.71 and 4.93 percent of Tybee Island visitors. 

 

 

 

- Page 18 -Item #3.



5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- Page 19 -Item #3.



6 
 

Demographics 
Within Georgia and Chatham County, 
Tybee Island tends to attract visitors 
under the age of 65. However, outside 
of Georgia, Tybee tends to attract 
fewer 18- to 34-year-olds and more 50- 
to 64-year-olds. One reason for this 
could be those in the higher age group 
usually have a higher amount of 
disposable income for a vacation to 
Tybee Island, whereas the younger age 
group is likely to take a more cost-
effective vacation at a location closer to 
home. 

When household income is considered, 
those from within Chatham County or 
Georgia make up between 18 and 28 
percent of each household income 
bracket except for the $35,000 or below 
group of which they make up 11 and 
nine percent, respectively. However, the 
percentage of out-of-state visitors for 
each household income bracket follows a 
linear progression. The higher the 
income bracket, the more outside 
visitors come to Tybee. An older age 
cohort is linked to a higher income 

bracket, supporting the idea that those who are older have a higher household income and can 
afford a trip from outside of Georgia 
to Tybee Island. 

The last demographic feature 
analyzed is relationship status. The 
majority of visitors are married or in a 
long-term relationship, no matter the 
region. These results are expected, 
with 85 percent of total visitors being 
adults aged 35 or older. A large sum 
of single and dating visitors are in the 
youngest age group, 44.1 percent and 
61.5 percent, respectively. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

18-34 years
old

35-49 years
old

50-64 years
old

65+ years old

Figure 3: Visitor Age

Chatham Georgia Outside Georgia

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

Figure 4: Visitor Household Income

Chatham Georgia Outside Georgia

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

Single Married /
Long-term

Relationship

Divorced /
Separated

Dating Widowed

Figure 5: Visitor Relationship Status

Chatham Georgia Outside Georgia

- Page 20 -Item #3.



7 
 

Travel Details 
Approximately 98 percent of all Georgians drove to Tybee in their personal vehicles during their 
visit to the island. Nearly 81 percent of visitors from outside of Georgia also drove personal 
vehicles to the island, and six percent used a rental vehicle. The second most popular means of 
travel for those from outside the state was to fly into the Savannah-Hilton Head International 
Airport and drive from there (11 percent). 

When determining the rate at which Tybee Island visitors are overnighting on Tybee, are 
overnighting in Savannah and visiting for the day, or day visitors who are not staying the night 
in the area, the in-person survey data is better suited for this purpose. However, figure 6 
depicts the results for both the combined and in-person survey data and also breaks down 
Tybee overnight visitors by those who stayed on Tybee and only visited Tybee, those who 
stayed on Tybee and visited Savannah, and those who stayed on Tybee and visited Hilton Head 
and other surrounding areas. 

 

Approximately 79.8 percent of total survey participants stayed overnight on Tybee Island, with 
11.9 percent having stayed in Savannah and visited Tybee for the day, and 8.3 percent having 
visited Tybee for a day trip without staying overnight in the nearby region. However, this 
number is skewed due to the partnership with Tybee accommodation providers to provide 
contacts for the survey. When analyzing the in-person survey participants only, 39.0 percent 
stayed on Tybee Island, 33.7 percent stayed in Savannah, and 27.3 percent were day visitors. 

While the average party size for all survey participants is 4.3, the highest concentration of 
visitors traveled in a party size of two (35.8 percent). Though overall, 73.6 percent of visitors 
are traveling with a group size of two to five people. 

Approximately 38.1 percent of survey participants visited Tybee Island with children (those 
under the age of 18). Of this population, the average number of children traveling with the 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Stay on Tybee, visit
Savannah

Stay on Tybee, only
visit Tybee

Stay in Savannah,
visit Tybee for a day

Day Trip Stay on Tybee, visit
Hilton Head, etc.

Figure 6: Type of Visit

Combined Data In-Person Data

- Page 21 -Item #3.



8 
 

group is 2.3. Almost 70 percent of those traveling with children have no more than two in their 
party. 

Table 3: Average Party Size 
 Chatham County Georgia Out-of-State All Visitors 
Total Party Size 3.6 4.3 4.3 4.3 
Adults 2.9 3.3 3.5 3.4 
Children 0.7 1.0 0.9 0.9 

 
Those from Chatham County are more likely than visitors from Georgia and from outside the 
state to travel in smaller numbers, one to three people. For example, 43.5 percent of survey 
respondents from Chatham traveled in a group of two, whereas 37.0 percent of Georgia 
residents and 35.1 percent of out-of-state residents traveled with this group size. Those outside 
of Chatham County are more likely to have bigger group sizes starting at four people. Only 12.5 
percent of Chatham County survey participants visited Tybee in a group of four, compared to 
17.5 percent of Georgia residents and 17.4 percent of out-of-state residents. 

Visit Frequency and Length of Stay 
Averaging the visit frequency from 2021 and 2022 Placer data, a visitor is estimated to travel to 
Tybee Island 3.21 times in a given year. Performing the same calculations with the CBAER 
survey data, the visit frequency is similar at 3.38 times within a 12-month timespan. The team 
further analyzed the visit frequency of tourists, defined as those living outside of a 50-mile 
radius from Tybee Island.3 Survey data resulted in an annual visit of 2.0 times, and Placer.ai 
data resulted in an annual visit of 1.03 times for tourists. Due to the higher population sample 
that Placer.ai has acquired, the 1.03 average annual visits for tourists will be used in the 
economic impact calculations. 

Length of stay was also measured in the survey analysis. When broken up into increments, most 
Tybee Island overnight visitors stayed on Tybee for 3 to 4 days (30.4 percent). However, 25.1 
and 23.9 percent stayed 5 to 6 days and 7 or more days, respectively. Combined, these two 
categories make up 49 percent of Tybee overnighters. While this part of the analysis represents 
the mode or most common occurrence, the average number of nights was calculated from 
participants responses. The average number of nights is 4.5 for Tybee Island overnight visitors. 

There were some long-term visitors to the region who stayed more than 14 nights; 186 (5.1 
percent) of Tybee Island overnighters and 16 (2.9 percent) of Savannah overnighters. The City 
of Tybee was curious about these long-term visitors and whether or not their stay was purely 
for pleasure or if these long-term visitors were working remotely while staying in the region.  

 
3 “Long-Distance Travel,” 20 May 2017, Bureau of Transportation Statistics, https://www.bts.gov/bts/archive/ 
publications/highlights_of_the_2001_national_household_travel_survey/section_03 

- Page 22 -Item #3.



9 
 

When prompted whether these 
long-term visitors would do 
another long-term stay in the 
future, 84.4 percent of the long-
term Tybee visitors expressed 
that they were “likely” or “very 
likely” to do another long-term 
stay on Tybee Island. 
Approximately 10 percent were 
unsure. All 16 (100 percent) of the 
Savannah long-term visitors said 
that they would likely do another 
long-term stay in Savannah. 

The most common length of stay for Savannah overnighters visiting Tybee Island for the day 
and other day visitors not staying the night in the nearby region was reported to be 3 to 5 hours 
by 44.6 percent and 56.0 percent of respondents, respectively. 

Accommodations and Room Nights 
A comparison of total survey data and in-person survey data is also necessary in determining 
the rate of stay in different types of accommodations on the island due to the types of 
accommodation providers that partnered with CBAER to assist in data collection. The 
aggregated survey responses suggest that vacation rentals are a very popular accommodation 
choice among Tybee Island overnighters, but the in-person data shows a wider spread of 
accommodation usage. Table 4 depicts these figures. 

Table 4: Tybee Island Overnight Visitors Accommodations 
 % Total 

Participants 
% In-Person 
Participants 

Vacation Rental 79.5 51.0 
Hotel / Motel / Resort 14.0 32.8 
Private Home / Staying with Friends or Family 2.9 6.7 
Historic Inn / Bed & Breakfast 2.1 3.8 
Campground / RV Park 0.9 5.2 
Other 0.6 0.6 

 
Separating out in-person surveys likely provides a better representation of the rate at which 
visitors are staying in different types of accommodations. Most of the providers who partnered 
with CBAER offered vacation rentals. While vacation rentals are still the most popular type of 
accommodation for in-person survey participants, hotels, motels, and resorts are used by 
almost one-third of visitors. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Yes, working remotely No, not working
remotely

Retired

Figure 7: Work Status of
Long-Term Visitors

Tybee Long-Term Visitors Savannah Long-Term Visitors

- Page 23 -Item #3.



10 
 

For Savannah overnight visitors, the most popular area to stay overnight in was the historic 
district (62.8 percent). Approximately 8.8 percent stayed with friends and family. Other 
accommodation locations that were inquired about are the suburban area (5.5 percent), the 
Pooler area (4.0 percent), near the airport area (1.9 percent), the Richmond Hill area (1.7 
percent), the Garden City/Port Wentworth area (1.5 percent), and near Interstate 95 (1.3 
percent). Approximately 9.5 percent indicated staying in a location other than those listed, and 
2.9 percent were unsure of the location of their accommodations. 

Survey data also allowed for the calculation of room-nights. Room nights are a statistical metric 
for the hotel industry which is achieved by multiplying the number of rooms rented by the 
number of nights stayed.4 Table 5 provides the average figures for number of rooms, number of 
nights, and number of room nights for both Tybee Island and Savannah overnighters. 

Table 5: Room Nights 
Tybee Island Overnighters 

 Chatham Georgia Out-of-State All Regions 
Average # of Rooms 1.8 1.3 1.3 1.3 
Average # of nights 
per person/party 3.8 3.4 5.4 4.5 

Average room-night 5.9 4.3 8.7 6.7 
Savannah Overnighters 

 Chatham Georgia Out-of-State All Regions 
Average # of Rooms 1.6 1.5 1.3 1.4 
Average # of Nights 
per person/party 2.2 2.7 4.5 4.0 

Average room-night 3.8 3.9 6.2 5.6 
*Due to suspected user error from online survey data, in-person data was used for this analysis. 

 
These numbers presented in Table 5, annual visitation5, average party size6, and percentages of 
Tybee Island overnighters and Savannah overnighters7 were used to estimate the total annual 
number of room nights in both the City of Tybee Island and the City of Savannah by Tybee 
Island visitors. These calculations resulted in 1,188,160 million room nights on Tybee Island and 
858,131 million room nights in Savannah by those who also visited Tybee, making the total 
number of room nights for Chatham County 2,046,291. The Savannah room-nights calculated 
stretches across accommodations provided in all of Savannah, not just the historic district. 

 
4 “Room Night,” Hotel Price Reporter, https://www.hotelpricereporter.com/term/room-
night/#:~:text=What%20is%20a%20room%20night,one%20room%20times%20one%20night 
5 Placer.ai estimates an annual average of over 1.9 million visitors to Tybee Island during 2021 and 2022. 
6 Refer to Table 3, total party size, all visitors. 
7 Refer to Figure 6, in-person survey data. 

- Page 24 -Item #3.



11 
 

Visitor Satisfaction 
Lastly, survey participants were asked to rate various tourism features of Tybee Island. The 
charts presented in this section depict visitors’ ratings of beaches, restaurant options, shopping 
and retail options, attractions, equipment rentals and public restrooms on a ten-point scale. 
One is the lowest rating and 10 is the highest rating. Only those who used or participated in the 
tourism feature were able to rate the feature. Additionally, although explanations of ratings 
were unsolicited, similar comments repeatedly made by survey participants were noted.  

Nearly every survey 
participant visited the 
beach, and beachgoers 
highly rated the beaches. 
Many survey participants 
made positive remarks 
about the overall quality 
and cleanliness of the 
beach. Some were 
disappointed about the rule 
prohibiting dogs on the 
beach, but others 
understood the reason for 
this being the protection of 
sea turtle nests. 

 

Attractions outside of the beach 
were visited less often. Close to 27 
percent of survey participants did 
not go to attractions like the Tybee 
Island Light Station and Museum, 
the Marine Science Center, and 
Fort Pulaski. Several remarks were 
made by these survey participants 
about having seen these 
attractions during a previous trip 
to the area and not feeling the 
need to revisit during their current 
trip. Those who recently visited 
these attractions gave high ratings. 

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Figure 8: Beaches

Low High

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Figure 9: Attractions

Low High

- Page 25 -Item #3.



12 
 

Close to 90 percent of survey 
participants either shopped at or 
observed local retail options. 
Several visitors expressed that retail 
items on the island were more 
expensive and that inventory across 
multiple stores was very similar. 
While some indicated it would be 
nice to have more retail variety, 
others expressed that the higher 
volume of tourist shops are 
expected at a beach town and is 
part of the experience. 

 

Equipment rentals such as bicycles, 
paddle boards, jet skis, golf carts, 
beach chairs and umbrellas were 
used the least out of the tourism 
factors being measured for visitor 
satisfaction. Thirty (30) percent of 
survey participants did not rent any 
recreation or other rental 
equipment. 

  

 

Comments about restaurant options 
were also mixed. Some visitors felt 
that there needed to be more variety 
in food options while others believed 
there was sufficient variety. In 
general, most of those who 
commented on restaurant options 
believed that the available food was 
good, or delicious. The most 
commonly expressed desire in regard 
to restaurants was the addition of a 
grocery store on the island and more 
restaurants to serve breakfast. 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Figure 10: Shopping & Retail Options

Low High

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Figure 11: Equipment Rentals

Low High

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Figure 12: Restaurant Options

Low High

- Page 26 -Item #3.



13 
 

A little over 15 percent of survey 
participants did not use public 
restrooms. Commonly these 
participants explained that their 
accommodations were closely 
located to their position on the 
beach or pier, and they did not 
require the use of or chose not to 
use the public restrooms. Those 
who did use the public restrooms 
made several comments. 
Anecdotally, those surveyed on 
Middle Beach or near the pier 
often had lower ratings of the 

public restrooms, which would include those on the pier. Their comments included a lack of 
cleanliness, plumbing issues, and stall doors missing locks. Some expressed a desire for more 
public restrooms to be available, especially along the beach. A few suggested that the newer 
bathrooms were in better condition. 

To further investigate if specific restrooms received different ratings, the public restroom rating 
results were compared against the location at which the research team was conducting in-
person surveys, operating under the assumption that survey participants were referring the 
restroom located closest to themselves at the time of surveying. The majority of survey 
participants at North Beach or near the lighthouse and at Middle Beach or the pier rated the 
public restrooms in the upper half of the scale, 6 through 10. However, 31 percent of Middle 
Beach/Pier survey participants rated public restrooms in the lower half of the scale, 1 through 
5, whereas only 12 percent of North Beach/Lighthouse survey participants rated public 
restrooms in the lower half of the scale. These findings suggest that not all public restrooms 
were equally rated, meaning that Tybee Island has some public restrooms visitors are pleased 
with and some public restrooms visitors are less pleased with. 

  

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Figure 13: Public Restrooms

Low High

- Page 27 -Item #3.



14 
 

Economic Impact Analysis 
To build on the information from the questionnaire CBAER next calculated the economic impact 
of tourists on Tybee Island. This economic impact listed in Table 6 covers Chatham County over 
the same timeframe as the survey information discussed in the previous section. The research 
team used spending data from the survey, Placer data to estimate the number of visitors, and 
the most widely used input/output model, IMPLAN, to estimate the total economic impact 
listed in Table 6. 

Table 6: Total Economic Impact+ 

 Output* Value Added* Labor Income Employment 
Direct $528.42 $317.76 $229.66 6,172 
Indirect 154.51 77.60 47.45 955 
Induced 144.61 86.71 46.81 892 
Total 827.54 482.06 323.92 8,018 
* Dollars in millions 
+ Impact reported in 2022 dollars. 

 
Within the IMPLAN model, the four variables used to describe economic impact are output, 
value added, labor income, and employment. Output measures the total value of industry 
production, or the sum of sales and net inventory linked to the economic activity being 
modeled.8 Value added makes up the largest portion of the output. This is because it is 
determined by subtracting the intermediate inputs from the output. The value-added variable 
represents the industry’s contribution to GDP. 9 Labor income narrows in on employee 
compensation (wages, salaries, and benefits) and proprietor income.10 The final descriptive 
variable, employment, includes full-time, part-time, and seasonal employment, and it is 
calculated as an annual average accounting for seasonality.11 See Appendix B for more 
information about the IMPLAN model. 

The analysis reveals that indirect spending (business-to-business) and induced contributions 
(consumer-to-business) transactions accounted for 36.1 percent of the related economic 
output. While direct spending by tourists is the largest contributor to the total economic 
impact, indirect transactions are the second most crucial factor.  

  

 
8 Candi Clouse, Output, IMPLAN, https://support.implan.com/hc/en-us/articles/115009668388-Output 
9 Candi Clouse, Understanding Value Added (VA), IMPLAN, https://support.implan.com/hc/en-
us/articles/360017144753-Understanding-Value-Added-VA- 
10 Candi Clouse, Labor Income, IMPLAN, https://support.implan.com/hc/en-us/articles/115009668468-Labor-
Income 
11 Candi Clouse, Employment, IMPLAN, https://support.implan.com/hc/en-us/articles/115009668668-Employment 

- Page 28 -Item #3.



15 
 

On-island City of Tybee Island Economic Impact 
Next the team split the Chatham County economic impact into two groups. The first is the City 
of Tybee Island, or on the island group, and the second is the remainder of Chatham County, or 
the off-island group. The tourism industry in the City of Tybee Island is the largest generator of 
economic activity for the community. Table 7 illustrates the direct gross regional product is 
$82.62 million for the on-island group and supports $59.71 million in labor income. 

Table 7: On-island City of Tybee Island Total Economic Impact+ 

 Output* Value Added* Labor Income Employment 
Direct $137.39 $82.62 $59.71 1,464 
Indirect $40.17 $20.17 $12.34 227 
Induced $37.60 $22.54 $12.17 211 
Total $215.16 $125.34 $84.22 1,902 
* Dollars in millions 
+ Impact reported in 2022 dollars. 

 
From an economic perspective, the Tybee Island economy is more closely tied to the tourism 
industry than the City of Savannah. Using location quotient (LQ) scores, the tourism industry on 
the island has scores of 2.56 compared to Savannah, which is 1.36 in 2021. These scores are a 
representation of industry concentration when the target area is compared to another area 
(United States). For this statistic, a score of 1.00 is at parity with the comparison area, with a 
score above 1.00 representative of greater industry concentration. 

Additionally, the economic impact figures in this analysis represents an economic activity that 
would not have taken place on Tybee Island without the visitors to the area. The monetary 
variables are the new economic activity that varies based on the number of visitors coming to 
the island and the number of funds being spent. The employment variable is also linked to 
visitor spending. However, some of the jobs in this analysis may also be supported by the local 
population. Following this information, the linked employment is part of the economic 
contribution that the tourism industry is making to Tybee Island economy. This means that the 
1,464 jobs on the island are directly linked to tourism. These direct jobs are mostly in 
accommodations, retail, food service, attractions, public service, and other sectors that directly 
support the tourism industry. Once these figures move through the economy, 1,902 jobs are 
linked to tourism. However, it is important to note that Tybee Island residents do not hold all 
the jobs in the Tybee tourism industry. 

Off-island Tybee Island Visitor Spending Impact on Chatham County  
While the economic value of the Tybee Island industry is important to the City, it also benefits 
other parts of Chatham County. The data presented in Table 8 represents the economic 
contribution made by visitors to Tybee Island on the rest of Chatham County. From an 
economic standpoint, not all of the expenditures made by visitors to Tybee Island stay on the 
island. For example, a visitor might spend their entire trip enjoying the beach on Tybee Island 
but do some of their grocery shopping and/or entertainment spending in Savannah or other 

- Page 29 -Item #3.



16 
 

nearby areas. Therefore, Chatham County receives economic benefits linked to the spending 
made by Tybee Island visitors, which is in addition to the expenditures that stay on the island. 

Table 8: Off-island Tybee Tourist Economic Impact in Chatham County+ 

 Output* Value Added* Labor Income* Employment 
Direct $391.03 $235.14 $169.95 4,752 
Indirect $114.34 $57.42 $35.12 736 
Induced $107.01 $64.16 $34.64 687 
Total $612.38 $356.72 $239.70 6,174 
* Dollars in millions 
+ Impact reported in 2022 dollars. 

 
The monetary variables in this part of the analysis are the result of the spending by visitors to 
Tybee Island. As this spending moves through the economy, it further supports additional 
spending in the form of indirect (business-to-business) and induced (consumer-to-business) 
transactions. Combined, these two categories account for 36 percent of total output and 34 
percent of the gross regional product. Also, this spending occurring over the listed timeframe of 
the analysis is new spending to the area, generating an economic impact. In contrast, 
employment is supported by both visitor and the local spending. Therefore, the monetary 
impacts support the total employment of 6,174 jobs in the area.  

When the 2023 economic impact is compared to the 2015 report there are some differences. 
First, the number of tourists that visit Tybee Island has increased significantly. In 2015 there 
were 1,044,000 annual visitors, while in 2023, this number reached 1,763,400 million tourist 
visitors specifically. Second, these visitors are staying longer. In the 2015 study, visitors stayed 
an average of 3.75 days per overnight visitor party. In the 2023 study, the length of stay 
increased to 4.5 nights per party. When these changes are combined with changes in visitor 
spending, the differences in the economic impact figures become more apparent. A complete 
comparative analysis is available in Appendix C. 

Tax Collections Linked the Visitor Spending  
The spending linked to Tybee Island visitors has also influenced tax collection in the City of 
Tybee Island. CBAER used the IMPLAN model to estimate how visitor spending has impacted tax 
collection. The IMPLAN analysis was used to estimate sales and property taxes, and the 
research team estimated the lodging taxes, all listed in Table 9.   

Table 9: Tax Collection+ 

 Sales Taxes Property Tax Total Lodging Tax 
City of Tybee Island  $1,327,000 $1,838,000 $8,461,000 
Chatham County $2,084,000 $3,555,000 - 
+ Impact reported in 2022 dollars. 

 
 

- Page 30 -Item #3.



17 
 

The timeframe of this report covered parts of two fiscal years. It covers all of Fiscal Year 2022 
(July 1, 2021 – June 30, 2022) and the first quarter of Fiscal Year 2023 (July 1, 2022 – September 
30, 2023). In order to provide more context for this part of the analysis, general property tax 
collection for Tybee Island was amended to $2.01 million in Fiscal Year 2022 and is budgeted to 
be just under $2.04 million in Fiscal Year 2023. In the case of sales taxes, General Location 
Option Sales and Use Tax (LOST), Alcoholic Beverage Excise Tax, and Local Alcoholic Beverage 
Taxes total just under $1.8 million in Fiscal Year 2022 and $1.9 million in Fiscal Year 2023. 
Finally, projected to be just under $7.1 million in Fiscal Year 2022 and $6.4 million in Fiscal 
Year2023.12 This means that tourist spending is an important source of revenue for the City of 
Tybee. However, if tourism were to decline, tax revenue would also somewhat decline, and the 
budgetary needs of the City would change. In the fiscal analysis section of this report, the City 
of Tybee Island spending on public services is compared to the spending of similar-sized 
communities in Georgia on the same services to highlight how the tourism industry influences 
local spending. 

Tourist Spending and Inputs for IMPLAN 
Tourist spending in a region they are visiting brings new dollars to the area. This is because 
tourists (outside 50-mile radius) do not live in the region they are visiting and are bringing in 
dollars that would normally be spent in and around their resident location. The estimated 
economic impact of tourist spending on Tybee Island was calculated using daily per person 
spending averages as reported by survey participants. 13 When possible, this spending was 
further compared to other sources, including annual budgets for the City of Tybee Island and 
JobsEQ by Chmura Economics & Analytics, to ensure the estimated spending and job counts are 
reflective of local market conditions. 

To calculate the direct inputs for the IMPLAN analysis, tourist spending was measured with the 
total number of Tybee tourists. Across the analyzed timeframe, Placer estimated an annual 
average of over 1.9 million visitors. Once the 50-mile geographic limitation was added, this 
number becomes an annual average of 1.7 million tourists. Next, the number of visits had to be 
calculated. “Visitors” measure the number of unique individuals that enter Tybee Island. 
“Visits” measures the number of times these unique visitors travel to the island in a given year. 
Looking at the tourist visitors, the annual average number of visits to Tybee Island by unique 
visitor is 1.03. This results in a total of over 1.75 million annual visits by tourists. 

These figures were also broken down by type of visit (Tybee overnighter, Savannah overnighter, 
day visitor). Earlier in the report these figures were determined by total survey response. 
However, for the purpose of the economic impact analysis, these figures had to be calculated 
for only tourist visitors. Therefore, the figures vary slightly. With the 50-mile parameter, the 

 
12 “2023 Annual Budget,” June 23, 2022, City of Tybee Island, Georgia, 
https://www.cityoftybee.org/DocumentCenter/View/3562/Final-FY23-Budget 
13 Figures based on in-person survey data. 

- Page 31 -Item #3.



18 
 

breakdown of tourists is 44 percent Tybee overnighters, 39 percent Savannah overnighters 
visiting Tybee for the day, and 17 percent day visitors not staying the night nearby. 

Table 10 displays the average daily spending of Tybee Island tourists according to their visit 
type. CBAER used in-person survey data for this table to better account for the spending mix of 
all types of visitors. Next, the average daily spending conducted by Savannah overnight tourists 
was calculated to estimate the funds spent only on Tybee Island. For the purposes of this 
analysis, these tourists were treated as day trippers to the island whose typical length of stay 
increases to 6 hours. This means that the estimated average daily spending also covers the 
timeframe on which this specific group of day trippers visited and spent money on Tybee Island. 

Table 10: Tourist (outside 50-mile radius) 
Average Daily Spending Per Person on Tybee Island 

 Tybee 
Overnight 

Visitors 

Savannah 
Overnight 

Visitors 

Day 
Visitors 

Restaurants $41.17 $8.39 $25.50 
Groceries $13.95 $1.06 $2.89 
Recreational/Rental 
Equipment $6.97 $0.51 $1.75 

Tours/Attractions $5.81 $2.09 $1.44 
Entertainment, 
Nightlife $16.55 $3.12 $7.11 

Shopping $15.52 $3.23 $12.19 
Local Transportation $0.77 $0.38 $0.41 
Parking $2.34 $1.04 $5.38 
Other $3.38 $0.66 $2.65 
TOTAL $106.46 $20.49 $59.31 

 
For Tybee overnight tourists, the average reported hotel spending was $94.63 per person per 
day, while the other forms of accommodation were $90.41 per person per day. These figures 
were converted to per-party spending when calculating input data for the economic impact 
analysis. This was done to account for daily service level differences between vacation rentals 
and hotels. Finally, it should also be noted that tourists who reported staying overnight on 
Tybee Island are not limiting their spending to just the Island. This is why the previously 
discussed economic impact includes Chatham County and the City of Tybee Island because this 
leakage is part of the trade flow that is taking place in this area. 

  

- Page 32 -Item #3.



19 
 

Fiscal Analysis: Comparison of Non-Coastal Cities in Georgia 
From a fiscal standpoint, having a strong tourism industry presents opportunities to grow 
different sources of revenue for local government. These revenue opportunities are an addition 
to the revenue collected by the increased demand of local government services due to the 
presence of more people, tourists. In some cases the fees charged and services demanded are 
reflective of what would be expected in a larger city population than the one of the city with a 
strong tourism industry. In this section of the report CBAER is seeking to highlight how the City 
of Tybee Island is different from other communities with a similar population.  

Examining variables of cities similar to Tybee Island in terms of economic and demographic data 
but with a smaller tourism industry can help put into context the fiscal impacts of tourism on 
the City of Tybee Island. In this fiscal analysis, local government revenues and expenditures are 
analyzed as well as location quotients. The differences in municipal government revenues and 
expenditures can be credited to the substantial tourism industry of Tybee Island, and location 
quotient scores reveal the substantial presence or lack thereof of tourism related industries in 
Tybee Island and the comparison group. 

Comparison Group 
A comparison group of eight cities was formed based on demographic and economic similarities 
to Tybee Island. Data was collected from the U.S. Census Bureau and JobsEQ by Chmura 
Economics & Analytics. Several variables were analyzed in the comparison group including 
population, population density (person per square mile), ethnic population percentages, 
median age of population, number of year-round residents, percent of occupied units, people 
per household, percent of units built since 2000, median household income, and 
unemployment rate. Although 
variation is to be expected, many of 
the economic and demographic 
variable averages are comparable to 
the City of Tybee Island. The 
comparison cities were also selected 
based on the most recent available 
financial statements common across 
all cities. The map to the right shows 
the geographic location of the eight 
chosen comparison cities: Royston, 
Watkinsville, Springfield, Vienna, 
Ringgold, Sylvania, Washington, and 
Gray. Table 11 displays the economic 
and demographic variables 
information. 

- Page 33 -Item #3.



20 
 

Table 11: LQ of Tourism Industry by 2-Digit NAICS Codes 
 Tybee 

Island Gray Ringgold Royston Springfield Sylvania Vienna Washington Watkinsville 
Comparison 

City 
Average 

Population 3,094 3,223 3,454 3,009 4,026 2,633 3,610 3,946 2,932 3,325 
Person/Mile 1,079.1 885.7 683.9 783.4 863.7 508.2 476.4 472.90 892.6 738.43 
% White 94.76 73.3 88.9 74.1 71.2 51.7 16.7 39.6 86.4 66.30 
% Black 2.78 23.9 6 19.6 24.7 44.8 74.5 56.8 6.7 28.86 
% Hispanic 0.2 0.2 2.4 2.3 0.6 4.6 11.8 0.2 1.7 2.67 
Median Age of 
Population 

55.9 34.3 44.9 33.1 32.4 54.3 36 48.2 34.8 41.54 

# of Year-Round 
Residents 

3,041 3,196 3198 2488 2,589 2533 3,085 3,701 2,793 2958.22 

% Occupied 
Units 

78.6 62.1 43.5 43.2 62.3 55.3 47.9 60.4 73.7 58.56 

People per 
Household 

2.19 2.56 2.07 2.39 2.37 2.16 2.72 2.26 2.8 2.39 

% Units built 
since 2000 

22.3 35.5 44.4 9.4 15.5 4.1 6.9 3.9 21.9 18.21 

Median HH 
Income 

94,722 55,735 46,237 25,640 51,923 30,595 33,687 31,902 73,500 49,327 

Unemployment 
Rate (%) 

5.1 0.9 5.2 12.1 5.6 1.0 16.6 2.5 2.8 5.76 

Source: JobsEQ by Chmura Economics & Analytics 

 

Financial Statement Analysis 
Revenue and expenditure categories affected by tourism were compared between the 
comparison group averages and the City of Tybee Island figures. Information is based on 2021 
figures as this was the most recently available financial statement year common to all cities in 
the analysis. See Appendix D for a list of financial statements from each comparison city. 

Starting with expenditures, those likely influenced by tourism that are analyzed in Figure 14 are 
water/sewer, solid waste, police, and fire expenditures. The categories of solid waste, police, 
and fire only had one of the individual comparison cities not represented. The population of 
Tybee Island is slightly lower than that 
of the comparison group, however 
expenditures per capita these 
expenditure categories are much higher 
for the City. This shows that 
expenditures are influenced by tourism 
these numbers are likely driven higher 
by the presence of tourists. As 
established in the Tourist Spending and 
Inputs for IMPLAN section of this report, 
Tybee Island has an average annual 
tourist visitation of 1.7 million people. 
The presence of more people will drive 

 $-

 $200

 $400

 $600

 $800

 $1,000

 $1,200

Water/Sewer Solid Waste Police Fire

Figure 14: Tourism Affected 
Expenditure Categories Per Capita

Tybee Island City Average

- Page 34 -Item #3.



21 
 

up the demand and use of water, sewer, and solid waste services. The presence of more people 
also increases the likelihood that police and fire department services will be required. 

Sources of revenue that could be 
affected by tourists and the 
tourism industry were analyzed 
by total collections. Figure 15 
shows the total revenue 
generated by property tax, local 
options sales tax (LOST), alcohol 
tax, and hotel/motel tax for 
Tybee Island and the comparison 
group. Tybee surpasses the 
comparison group in all revenue 
categories. The most prominent 
difference is in hotel/motel tax 
figures. Not only is Tybee’s 
hotel/motel tax revenue more than 46 times the amount of the comparison group average, 
three of the individual cities used in the comparison group do not report revenue from this 
category. One individual city also does not report alcohol tax revenue. 

Tybee Island has a general revenue fund that is larger than the comparison group, $14.2 million 
compared to $2.3 million, respectively. Analyzing the share of the general revenue fund that 

each category possesses provides more 
context. As seen in Figure 16, the 
property and sales taxes contribute 
larger shares to the general revenue 
fund in the comparison group than in 
the City of Tybee Island. (Note, 
hotel/motel tax is often not listed under 
the general revenue fund in the 
comparison group and is therefore not 
included in this figure.) 

Figure 16 indicates that the general 
revenue fund for Tybee Island is 
supported by different sources of 
revenue. One of the revenue sources 

contributing to Tybee Island’s general revenue fund is parking. In 2021, parking fees 
contributed approximately $5.8 million to the total general revenue fund, which accounts for 
approximately 41 percent of this $14.2 million fund. 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Property Tax Sales Tax Alcohol Tax

Figure 16: Tourism Related Revenue 
Categories Share of General Fund

Tybee Island City Average

$0

$1

$2

$3

$4

$5

$6

Hotel/Motel
Tax

Property Tax Sales Tax Alcohol Tax

M
ill

io
ns

Figure 15: Tourism Affected
Revenue Categories

Tybee Island City Average

- Page 35 -Item #3.



22 
 

Location Quotient (LQ) Analysis 
As noted in the previous section, supporting tourists and the needs of local residents has a cost. 
This section seeks to highlight the economic value that is linked to supporting the tourism 
industry by analyzing location quotients (LQs). The information presented here also illustrates 
that Tybee Island shares the economic benefits of tourism with other parts of the local area. 

A location quotient is a unit of measurement for the relative size or concentration of an 
industry in a given region compared to the national average size or concentration. An LQ score 
of 1.00 indicates regional industry size is the same to the national average; an LQ score of 2.0 
indicates regional industry size is twice the national average; and an LQ score of 0.50 indicates 
the regional industry size is half the size of the national average.14 Size, or concentration, is 
determined by industry employment. An LQ score of 1.25 or higher is considered to represent a 
comparative advantage of that industry in the analyzed region. A comparative advantage is held 
by the region that can produce goods or services at a lower cost than others. 15 

Table 17 depicts the LQ scores of the tourism industry in the City of 
Tybee Island and the comparison group cities. These LQ scores 
clearly define Tybee Island as a tourist destination. Not only does 
the City’s LQ score of 2.56 indicate Tybee Island is comparatively 
advantageous in the tourism industry, but it also indicates that the 
concentration of tourism in the City is 2.5 times the national rate. 
The comparison group is in alignment with the national average for 
tourism. However, two cities stand out as also having comparative 
advantages when each individual city in the comparison group is 
considered: Royston (LQ 1.40) and Sylvania (LQ 1.33). 

For further analysis, Table 18 depicts the four 2-digit North 
American Industry Classification System (NAICS) codes that are 
included in the tourism industry being measured in Table 17. These 
NAICS codes are Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation (71), Retail 

Trade (44), Real Estate and Rental Leasing (53), and Accommodation and Food Services (72). 

The 2-digit NAICS code analysis reveals that the high tourism LQ score of Tybee is largely due to 
the Real Estate and Rental Leasing and the Accommodation and Food Services sectors with LQ 
scores of 5.44 and 4.24, respectively. The City also has a comparative advantage in the Arts, 
Entertainment, and Recreation sector, but its Retail Trade sector is just barely on par with the 
national average. This suggests that Tybee tourists do some retail and entertainment spending 
off the island. 

 
14 “Location Quotient,” JobsEQ by Chmura Economics & Analytics, https://help.eqsuite.com/miscellaneous-
pages/location-quotient/ 
15 Lauren F. Landsburg, “Comparative Advantage,” Econlib, 
https://www.econlib.org/library/Topics/Details/comparativeadvantage.html 

Table 17: LQ of the 
Tourism Industry 

Tybee Island 2.56 
Comparison 
Group Average 0.98 

Gray 1.11 
Ringgold 1.20 
Royston 1.40 
Springfield 0.62 
Sylvania 1.33 
Vienna 0.47 
Washington 1.02 
Watkinsville 0.66 
Source: JobsEQ by Chmura 
Economics & Analytics 

- Page 36 -Item #3.



23 
 

Table 18: LQ of Tourism Industry by 2-Digit NAICS Codes 
 Arts, 

Entertainment, 
and Recreation 

(71) 

Retail Trade 
(44) 

Real Estate and 
Rental Leasing 

(53) 

Accommodation 
and Food Services 

(72) 

Tybee Island 1.25 0.99 5.44 4.24 
Comparison 
Group Average 0.15 1.24 0.26 0.97 

Gray 0.26 1.45 0.36 1.02 
Ringgold 0.68 1.54 0.32 1.07 
Royston 0.04 1.96 0.24 1.25 
Springfield 0.03 0.83 0.11 0.59 
Sylvania 0.02 1.82 0.01 1.29 
Vienna 0.04 0.44 0.18 0.68 
Washington 0.05 1.28 0.18 1.09 
Watkinsville 0.07 0.64 0.70 0.80 
Source: JobsEQ by Chmura Economics & Analytics 

 
The comparison group has a larger concentration of the Retail Trade industry than the City of 
Tybee Island. The individual cities of Gray (LQ 1.45) and Ringgold (LQ 1.54) have likely been 
influenced by their close proximity to the larger cities of Macon, GA and Chattanooga, TN, 
respectively. Royston (LQ 1.96), Sylvania (LQ 1.82), and Washington (LQ 1.28) are centered at 
the intersection of two or more highways, placing these cities in a better position to service a 
larger geographical area. 

For Tybee Island, the Real Estate and Rental Leasing (NAICS 53) is largely driven higher by the 
Real Estate sector (NAICS 531) than the Rental and Leasing Services sector (NAICS 532) sector 
with LQ scores of 6.10 and 2.82, respectively. However, both scores are still higher than the 
national average. 

The Accommodation and Food Services (NAICS 72) industry on Tybee is also driven by one 3-
digit NAICS code sector more than the other, but in this case one of the sectors is less than the 
national average. The Full-Service Restaurants (NAICS 722511) has an LQ score of 8.62 and the 
Limited-Service Restaurants (NAICS 722513) has an LQ score of 0.79. A full-service restaurant is 
defined as an establishment where patrons order and are served while seated and pay after 
eating, whereas limited-service restaurants usually require patrons to order and pay before 
eating.16 Tybee’s LQ scores in these sectors indicate that the City has a much higher 
concentration of full-service restaurants than limited-service restaurants. 

 
16 “NAICS Code Description: 722511 – Full-Service Restaurants,” NAICS Association, https://www.naics.com/naics-
code-description/?code=722511 

- Page 37 -Item #3.



24 
 

Conclusion 
The tourism industry has had a substantial effect on economic activity in the City of Tybee 
Island. This report found that an annual average of 1.7 million tourist visitors and 1.9 million 
total visitors traveled to the island in 2021 and 2022 from every U.S. state. When this 
information is compared to the 2015 report, visitation has increased by 83 percent. This current 
report has also captured visitor survey data from an additional 10 U.S. states, and 0.4 percent 
of data represents tourists with an international point of origin. Combined, these travelers used 
1.19 million room-nights at local accommodation providers. Even with the increase of travelers, 
day-trip tourists still comprised 61 percent of visits, while 39 percent were overnight tourists. 

Across Tybee Island the tourism industry is led by the Accommodation and Food Services and 
the Real Estate and Leasing industries. Overall, these account for most of the tourism activity 
when compared to other similar-sized communities and the national mix of industries. Tybee 
Island also has a comparative advantage in the Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation industry 
but not as strong. Also, the City has a smaller concentration Retail Trade than the comparison 
group but is on par with the national average. This is due to strong linkages between the island 
and the other areas of Chatham County. 

The on-island total revenue (output) reached $215.6 million over the four quarters of the 
economic impact analysis. This resulted in a total of 1,902 jobs supported on Tybee Island. Due 
to the economic linkage between the City of Tybee Island and the rest of Chatham County, the 
off-island impact was larger. The spending for tourist spending off-island reaches $612.38 
million in total revenue. This supported a total of 6,174 jobs across Chatham County. The 
economic activity supported $11.6 million in city tax collection and $5.6 million in county 
revenue. 

The analysis also found that the City of Tybee Island collects more tax revenue than other 
similar communities based on population, but the increase in visitors also requires higher 
expenditures on local services. These funds are also spent supporting additional services that 
makes this community a good place to visit and live. 

  

- Page 38 -Item #3.



25 
 

Appendix A: Complete List of Visitor Point of Origin 
Tables 19 and 20 show the complete list of states that are the point of origin for all survey 
participants in the CBAER data and all visitors in the Placer.ai data, respectively. Also included is 
Washington D.C. and international figures. (At the time of reporting, Placer did not collect 
international data.) 

  
Table 19: Visitor Point of Origin 2021-2022 Complete List, CBAER Data 

 
  State % of 

Visitors 
  State % of Visitors 

1 Georgia 38.82  27 Connecticut 0.35 
2 North Carolina 7.35  28 Maine 0.27 
3 South Carolina 6.99  29 New Hampshire 0.27 
4 Tennessee 6.26  30 Oklahoma 0.27 
5 Ohio 5.22  31 Mississippi 0.24 
6 Indiana 2.79  32 Washington 0.24 
7 Kentucky 2.81  33 Utah 0.20 
8 Virginia 2.81  34 Nebraska 0.18 
9 Florida 2.57  35 Nevada 0.18 

10 New York 2.50  36 Arkansas 0.15 
11 Michigan 2.26  37 Louisiana 0.13 
12 Pennsylvania 2.28  38 Arizona 0.11 
13 Illinois 1.99  39 Delaware 0.11 
14 Alabama 1.66  40 Oregon 0.11 
15 Maryland 1.53  41 Vermont 0.11 
16 New Jersey 1.20  42 New Mexico 0.07 
17 Wisconsin 1.02  43 Idaho 0.02 
18 Missouri 0.89  44 South Dakota 0.04 
19 Texas 0.86  45 Montana 0.02 
20 Massachusetts 0.82  46 North Dakota 0.02 
21 Minnesota 0.80  47 Rhode Island 0.02 
22 California 0.69  48 Alaska - 
23 West Virginia 0.66  49 Hawaii - 
24 Colorado 0.62  50 Wyoming - 
25 Iowa 0.55   Washington, D.C. 0.11 
26 Kansas 0.40   International 0.40 

 

 

 

 

- Page 39 -Item #3.



26 
 

 

 
Table 20: Visitor Point of Origin 2021-2022 Complete List, Placer Data 

  State % of 
Visitors 

  State % of 
Visitors 

1 Georgia 41.63  27 Oklahoma 0.45 
2 North Carolina 6.15  28 Kansas 0.44 
3 South Carolina 5.83  29 Mississippi 0.42 
4 Florida 5.10  30 Louisiana 0.41 
5 Tennessee 4.51  31 Iowa 0.41 
6 Ohio 3.85  32 Connecticut 0.38 
7 Kentucky 2.73  33 Washington 0.35 
8 Virginia 2.61  34 Utah 0.24 
9 Alabama 2.26  35 Nebraska 0.23 

10 Illinois 2.24  36 New Hampshire 0.17 
11 Pennsylvania 2.19  37 Oregon 0.15 
12 New York 1.85  38 Nevada 0.13 
13 Indiana 1.82  39 Delaware 0.12 
14 Michigan 1.77  40 Maine 0.11 
15 Texas 1.65  41 New Mexico 0.11 
16 Missouri 1.23  42 South Dakota 0.10 
17 Maryland 1.14  43 Rhode Island 0.09 
18 California 1.11  44 Idaho 0.08 
19 Wisconsin 1.09  45 Vermont 0.08 
20 New Jersey 0.86  46 Alaska 0.07 
21 West Virginia 0.69  47 Montana 0.07 
22 Minnesota 0.65  48 Hawaii 0.06 
23 Colorado 0.61  49 North Dakota 0.05 
24 Massachusetts 0.59  50 Wyoming 0.05 
25 Arizona 0.48   Washington D.C. 0.14 
26 Arkansas 0.47   International N/A 

 

 

 

 

  

- Page 40 -Item #3.



27 
 

Appendix B: IMPLAN Model 
Input/output (I/O) models examine the relationships between different industrial sectors in a 
targeted geographic area.  The regions could include (but are not limited to): United States, 
Grouping of States, One State, or Sub-State (County or City).  These models are not forecasting 
models, which are designed to predict changing economic situations.  Rather, I/O models, 
including IMPLAN, assume that the economy is in a state of general equilibrium.  When an 
analyst enters data into an input-output system, the economy is “shocked by the new action.”    

This shock to the model sets off a set of relationships between the different industrial sectors in 
the model.  These relationships create changes in the equilibrium of the model.  It is this change 
from the old equilibrium to new equilibrium that creates the economic impact.      

The IMPLAN model follows this type of format.  The general equilibrium in the model is defined 
by several different tables, which make up the structural matrix.  One of the foundations of the 
structural matrix is based on the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) 
codes.  These codes organize the matrix into sectors of the economy that follow the NAICS 
codes.   The codes determine how closely the economy will be examined.  In general, the more 
specific the NAICS code, the more detailed the analysis.  For example, NAICS code 31 represents 
manufacturing, which includes food and beverage manufacturing, textile mills, appliance 
apparel manufacturing, and so on.  In contrast, NAICS code 31131 represents a specific type of 
manufacturing, just sugar manufacturing.  With this step complete in the matrix, the next step 
in the IMPLAN model is to examine a targeted region.   

The matrix next generates a regional purchase coefficient from the national data.  This 
coefficient is specific to each model’s regional configuration.  This coefficient is important to 
the modeling process because it is how the model accounts for the goods and services 
necessary to process one unit of output.  It also determines how many of the goods and 
services are produced locally, and what will need to be imported into the region.  

This coefficient is also useful in determining the amount of employment in the regional 
configuration being studied.  Inside IMPLAN’s matrix, calculations are done to determine how 
much output is needed to create one new unit of employment.  When an analyst enters an 
input, the IMPLAN model uses both the coefficient and the matrix to determine how much 
employment will be added.  It is again the regional coefficient’s job to tell the model how much 
employment will take place in the region being studied.  This model is often used to calculate 
job creation figures for economic impact studies.    

Data Used in the IMPLAN Model  

The data used in the IMPLAN model are collected from a variety of data sources.  The most 
important federal data sources for this plan come from the U.S. Department of 
Commerce.  This department includes the U.S. Census Bureau and the Bureau of Economic 

- Page 41 -Item #3.



28 
 

Analysis.  Other data come from the Bureau of Labor Statistics through the U.S. Department of 
Labor.    

The data sets that IMPLAN uses to develop the underlying model are:  

• U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis 
• U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis Output Estimates 
• U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis REIS Program 
• U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics Covered Employment and Wages (ES202) Program   
• U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Expenditure Survey   
• U.S. Census Bureau County Business Patterns   
• U.S. Census Bureau Decennial Census and Population Surveys   
• U.S. Census Bureau Economic Censuses and Surveys   
• U.S. Department of Agriculture Crop and Livestock Statistics  
• U.S. Geological Survey   

Each of these data sets provides the IMPLAN model with reliable data.  MIG then synthesizes 
the information and develops appropriate equations to make the model function.  In addition, 
IMPLAN fills in any gaps in these data using methods consistent with the common theory in this 
area.   

With these tools in place, the IMPLAN model produces three elements in determining economic 
impact in the analysis.   

Direct effects – Direct effects are the effects of the capital or labor that are directly being 
studied in the modeling process.  An example of a direct effect is the spending by visitors on 
goods and services within a particular region.   

Indirect effects – Indirect effects are the business-to-business transactions caused by the direct 
effects.  For example, when a general contractor purchases supplies, the supplying vendors will 
use the revenue generated to restock inventory and to potentially hire additional employees.  

Induced effects – Induced effects are the impacts of direct and indirect effects on individual 
employees’ income and subsequent spending in the economy.   

 

- Page 42 -Item #3.



29 
 

In general, for every input into a transaction, an amount over that transaction is generated.  For 
example, if a visitor or employee buys lunch at a local restaurant, the amount of this purchase 
will be re-circulated in the economy.  This happens when the business owner replaces the 
ingredients used in preparing lunch (the indirect effects) or hires an employee to prepare or 
serve the meal (induced effect).  The receivers in this transaction become the next round’s 
inputs, so the cycle continues. The IMPLAN model only tracks the first round of this process.   

Using these effects, the model produces several multipliers. Multipliers measure how many 
times an economic action moves through the economy. They apply to both monetary and 
employment transactions. The multipliers used in IMPLAN are the indirect multiplier (indirect 
effect / direct effect), the type I multiplier (direct effect + indirect effect / direct effect), the 
induced multiplier (induced effect / direct effect), and the type SAM (social accounting matrix) 
multiplier ((direct effect + indirect effect + induced effect) / direct effect). 

  

- Page 43 -Item #3.



30 
 

Appendix C: Comparison of 2023 and 2015 Reports 
Displayed in Table 20 are the areas in which the 2023 and 2015 reports differ. Many of these 
changes are due to increases in the number of tourists and total visitors traveling to Tybee 
Island. Other differences can be explained by market factors including inflation/price increases, 
changes in spending patterns, and consumer preferences. 

Table 20: Differences Between the 2015 and 2023 Reports 
Visitation and Accommodations  2023 2015 
Number of Visitors  1,763,400 1,044,100 
Average Overnight Visitor Party Size 4.50 3.75 
Average party size  4.30 4.30 
Out-of-State Visitor Percentage  61% 27% 
From Georgia (excluding Chatham County) 33% 48% 
Economic Impacts  2023 2015 
On-island total business revenue (Output) $215,159,543 $164,898,510* 

Off-island total business revenue (Output) $612,347,162 $143,547,000* 
On-island total employment 1,902 1,225 
Off-island total employment  6,147 1,643 
*Inflation adjusted from 2015 to 2022 using CPI 

 

  

- Page 44 -Item #3.



31 
 

Appendix D: Financial Statements of Comparison Cities Reference List 
 

City of Tybee Island, Georgia, Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, 
https://www.cityoftybee.org/DocumentCenter/View/3331/FY-2021-Audited-Financial-
Statement 

City of Gray, Georgia, Annual Financial Report, for the year ended December 31, 2021, 
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-
report/city-gray-fy2021-financial-report.pdf 

City of Ringgold, Georgia, Annual Financial Report, year ended December 31, 2021, 
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-
report/city-ringgold-fy2021-financial-report.pdf 

City of Royston, Georgia, Annual Financial Report, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, 
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-
report/city-royston-fy2021-financial-report.pdf 

City of Springfield, Georgia, Annual Financial Report, for the year ended December 31, 2021, 
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-
report/city-springfield-fy2021-financial-report.pdf 

City of Sylvania, Georgia, Audit of Financial Statements, for the year ended December 31, 2021, 
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-
report/city-sylvania-fy2021-financial-report.pdf 

City of Vienna, Georgia, Financial Report, for the year ended September 30, 2021, 
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-
report/city-vienna-fy2021-financial-report.pdf 

City of Washington, Georgia, Annual Financial Report, for the year ended December 31, 2021, 
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-
report/city-washington-fy2021-financial-report.pdf 

City of Watkinsville, Georgia, Annual Financial Report, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, 
https://www.dropbox.com/sh/5mln3d1zjmpzphq/AAD6sx_FGR-b2W-
vR_fyB8KXa?dl=0&preview=Fiscal+Year+2021+City+of+Watkinsville+Annual+Financial+Report+
FINAL.pdf 

 

- Page 45 -Item #3.

https://www.cityoftybee.org/DocumentCenter/View/3331/FY-2021-Audited-Financial-Statement
https://www.cityoftybee.org/DocumentCenter/View/3331/FY-2021-Audited-Financial-Statement
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-gray-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-gray-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-ringgold-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-ringgold-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-royston-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-royston-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-springfield-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-springfield-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-sylvania-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-sylvania-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-vienna-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-vienna-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-washington-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://ted.cviog.uga.edu/financial-documents/sites/default/files/budgetdoc/financial-report/city-washington-fy2021-financial-report.pdf
https://www.dropbox.com/sh/5mln3d1zjmpzphq/AAD6sx_FGR-b2W-vR_fyB8KXa?dl=0&preview=Fiscal+Year+2021+City+of+Watkinsville+Annual+Financial+Report+FINAL.pdf
https://www.dropbox.com/sh/5mln3d1zjmpzphq/AAD6sx_FGR-b2W-vR_fyB8KXa?dl=0&preview=Fiscal+Year+2021+City+of+Watkinsville+Annual+Financial+Report+FINAL.pdf
https://www.dropbox.com/sh/5mln3d1zjmpzphq/AAD6sx_FGR-b2W-vR_fyB8KXa?dl=0&preview=Fiscal+Year+2021+City+of+Watkinsville+Annual+Financial+Report+FINAL.pdf


File Attachments for Item:

4. Julie Livingston:  Golf Cart Safety

- Page 46 -Item #4.



- Page 47 -Item #4.



File Attachments for Item:

5. Agenda Request: Frozen Daiquiri LLC dba The Daiquiri Bar: Alcohol and Entertainment 

License-Beer/Wine/Liquor - No Sunday Sales

1504 Butler Ave

Piped in/Recorded Music Only-no live music

- Page 48 -Item #5.



- Page 49 -Item #5.



- Page 50 -Item #5.



- Page 51 -Item #5.



- Page 52 -Item #5.



- Page 53 -Item #5.



File Attachments for Item:

6. Agenda Request: Fin's Corner Pizza-Entertainment License

1605 Inlet Ave

- Page 54 -Item #6.



- Page 55 -Item #6.



- Page 56 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7. Approval for travel to Association of State Floodplain Managers Conference, Out of state 

travel to the ASFPM annual conference in Raleigh, NC. May 7-11,2023 for George Shaw. Budget

52-3500

- Page 57 -Item #7.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: March 23
 

 
 
 
 
 

Out of state travel to the ASFPM annual conference in Raleigh, NC. May 7-11,
2023
Budget 52-3500

Approval for travel to Association of State Floodplain Managers Conference

- Page 58 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

8.   RFP 2023-771 Disaster Debris Removal

- Page 59 -Item #8.



RFP 2023-771 Disaster Debris Removal Award Memo Crowder Gulf  

 
4862-1371-6311.1 

  City of Tybee Island 
 
Memo Contract Award 
 
To:  City of Tybee Island City Council Members 
From:  Jeremy Kendrick, Fire Chief 
Date:  March 15, 2023 
Re:             RFP 2023-771 Disaster Debris Removal 
 
 
Background 
The City of Tybee Island has solicited for competitive proposals from qualified companies to 
provide Disaster Debris Recovery Services on a standby basis for specific disaster related 
damage debris located on the City of Tybee Island’s streets, roads, public property, public area 
and public rightsof-way. In the event of an officially declared disaster, the City of Tybee Island 
would be seeking reimbursement from the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) for 
having a contractor provide these services. Therefore, the contractor shall follow FEMA 
guidelines as outlined in the January 2020 FEMA 322 Public Assistance Guide. 2021 FEMA 327 
Public Assistance Debris Monitoring Guide, and 2021 FEMA 325 Public Assistance Debris 
Management Guide. The Contractor must also have an established management team, an 
established network of resources to provide the necessary equipment and personnel, 
comprehensive debris removal and volume reduction operations plans, and demonstrable 
experience in major disaster recovery projects. 
 
Overview 
The City of Tybee Island received 6 bids for Disaster Debris Removal. 

 Crowder Gulf 

 DRC Emergency Services 

 Looks Great Services 

 Phillips & Jordan 

 Southern Disaster Recovery 

 TFR Enterprises 
 
Summary 
The panel reviewed each qualified company and found that Crowder Gulf meets the city’s needs 
as it relates to Disaster Debris Removal and was the highest rated of those who submitted 
proposals. 
 
Recommended Next Steps: 
Administration recommends that the City Council approve the RFP 2023-771 Disaster Debris 
Removal and award the contract to Crowder Gulf. 
 
 
 

- Page 60 -Item #8.



- Page 61 -Item #8.



- Page 62 -Item #8.



- Page 63 -Item #8.



- Page 64 -Item #8.



- Page 65 -Item #8.



- Page 66 -Item #8.



- Page 67 -Item #8.



- Page 68 -Item #8.



- Page 69 -Item #8.



- Page 70 -Item #8.



- Page 71 -Item #8.



- Page 72 -Item #8.



- Page 73 -Item #8.



- Page 74 -Item #8.



- Page 75 -Item #8.



- Page 76 -Item #8.



- Page 77 -Item #8.



- Page 78 -Item #8.



- Page 79 -Item #8.



- Page 80 -Item #8.



- Page 81 -Item #8.



- Page 82 -Item #8.



- Page 83 -Item #8.



- Page 84 -Item #8.



- Page 85 -Item #8.



- Page 86 -Item #8.



- Page 87 -Item #8.



- Page 88 -Item #8.



- Page 89 -Item #8.



- Page 90 -Item #8.



- Page 91 -Item #8.



- Page 92 -Item #8.



- Page 93 -Item #8.



- Page 94 -Item #8.



- Page 95 -Item #8.



- Page 96 -Item #8.



- Page 97 -Item #8.



- Page 98 -Item #8.



- Page 99 -Item #8.



- Page 100 -Item #8.



- Page 101 -Item #8.



- Page 102 -Item #8.



- Page 103 -Item #8.



- Page 104 -Item #8.



- Page 105 -Item #8.



- Page 106 -Item #8.



- Page 107 -Item #8.



- Page 108 -Item #8.



- Page 109 -Item #8.



- Page 110 -Item #8.



- Page 111 -Item #8.



- Page 112 -Item #8.



- Page 113 -Item #8.



- Page 114 -Item #8.



- Page 115 -Item #8.



- Page 116 -Item #8.



- Page 117 -Item #8.



- Page 118 -Item #8.



- Page 119 -Item #8.



- Page 120 -Item #8.



- Page 121 -Item #8.



- Page 122 -Item #8.



- Page 123 -Item #8.



- Page 124 -Item #8.



- Page 125 -Item #8.



- Page 126 -Item #8.



- Page 127 -Item #8.



- Page 128 -Item #8.



- Page 129 -Item #8.



- Page 130 -Item #8.



- Page 131 -Item #8.



- Page 132 -Item #8.



- Page 133 -Item #8.



- Page 134 -Item #8.



- Page 135 -Item #8.



- Page 136 -Item #8.



- Page 137 -Item #8.



- Page 138 -Item #8.



- Page 139 -Item #8.



- Page 140 -Item #8.



- Page 141 -Item #8.



- Page 142 -Item #8.



- Page 143 -Item #8.



- Page 144 -Item #8.



- Page 145 -Item #8.



- Page 146 -Item #8.



- Page 147 -Item #8.



- Page 148 -Item #8.



- Page 149 -Item #8.



- Page 150 -Item #8.



- Page 151 -Item #8.



- Page 152 -Item #8.



- Page 153 -Item #8.



- Page 154 -Item #8.



- Page 155 -Item #8.



- Page 156 -Item #8.



- Page 157 -Item #8.



- Page 158 -Item #8.



- Page 159 -Item #8.



- Page 160 -Item #8.



- Page 161 -Item #8.



- Page 162 -Item #8.



- Page 163 -Item #8.



- Page 164 -Item #8.



- Page 165 -Item #8.



- Page 166 -Item #8.



- Page 167 -Item #8.



- Page 168 -Item #8.



- Page 169 -Item #8.



- Page 170 -Item #8.



- Page 171 -Item #8.



- Page 172 -Item #8.



- Page 173 -Item #8.



- Page 174 -Item #8.



- Page 175 -Item #8.



- Page 176 -Item #8.



- Page 177 -Item #8.



- Page 178 -Item #8.



- Page 179 -Item #8.



- Page 180 -Item #8.



- Page 181 -Item #8.



- Page 182 -Item #8.



- Page 183 -Item #8.



- Page 184 -Item #8.



- Page 185 -Item #8.



- Page 186 -Item #8.



- Page 187 -Item #8.



- Page 188 -Item #8.



- Page 189 -Item #8.



- Page 190 -Item #8.



- Page 191 -Item #8.



- Page 192 -Item #8.



- Page 193 -Item #8.



- Page 194 -Item #8.



- Page 195 -Item #8.



- Page 196 -Item #8.



- Page 197 -Item #8.



- Page 198 -Item #8.



- Page 199 -Item #8.



- Page 200 -Item #8.



- Page 201 -Item #8.



- Page 202 -Item #8.



- Page 203 -Item #8.



- Page 204 -Item #8.



- Page 205 -Item #8.



- Page 206 -Item #8.



- Page 207 -Item #8.



- Page 208 -Item #8.



- Page 209 -Item #8.



- Page 210 -Item #8.



- Page 211 -Item #8.



- Page 212 -Item #8.



- Page 213 -Item #8.



- Page 214 -Item #8.



- Page 215 -Item #8.



- Page 216 -Item #8.



- Page 217 -Item #8.



- Page 218 -Item #8.



- Page 219 -Item #8.



- Page 220 -Item #8.



- Page 221 -Item #8.



- Page 222 -Item #8.



- Page 223 -Item #8.



- Page 224 -Item #8.



- Page 225 -Item #8.



- Page 226 -Item #8.



- Page 227 -Item #8.



- Page 228 -Item #8.



- Page 229 -Item #8.



- Page 230 -Item #8.



- Page 231 -Item #8.



- Page 232 -Item #8.



- Page 233 -Item #8.



- Page 234 -Item #8.



- Page 235 -Item #8.



- Page 236 -Item #8.



- Page 237 -Item #8.



- Page 238 -Item #8.



- Page 239 -Item #8.



- Page 240 -Item #8.



- Page 241 -Item #8.



- Page 242 -Item #8.



- Page 243 -Item #8.



- Page 244 -Item #8.



- Page 245 -Item #8.



- Page 246 -Item #8.



- Page 247 -Item #8.



- Page 248 -Item #8.



- Page 249 -Item #8.



- Page 250 -Item #8.



- Page 251 -Item #8.



- Page 252 -Item #8.



- Page 253 -Item #8.



- Page 254 -Item #8.



- Page 255 -Item #8.



- Page 256 -Item #8.



- Page 257 -Item #8.



- Page 258 -Item #8.



- Page 259 -Item #8.



- Page 260 -Item #8.



- Page 261 -Item #8.



- Page 262 -Item #8.



- Page 263 -Item #8.



- Page 264 -Item #8.



- Page 265 -Item #8.



- Page 266 -Item #8.



- Page 267 -Item #8.



- Page 268 -Item #8.



- Page 269 -Item #8.



- Page 270 -Item #8.



- Page 271 -Item #8.



- Page 272 -Item #8.



- Page 273 -Item #8.



- Page 274 -Item #8.



- Page 275 -Item #8.



- Page 276 -Item #8.



- Page 277 -Item #8.



- Page 278 -Item #8.



- Page 279 -Item #8.



- Page 280 -Item #8.



File Attachments for Item:

9. Budget Amendment - Legal Fees

- Page 281 -Item #9.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: March 23
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Legal fees were budgeted based on a monthly average of $20,000.  Current year
monthly invoices have averaged $35,000.

Approve budget amendment increasing legal fees line item and decreasing fund
balance. 

Legal Fees Budget Amendment.pdf

- Page 282 -Item #9.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1841785/Legal_Fees_Budget_Amendment.pdf


- Page 283 -Item #9.



File Attachments for Item:

10. Consider approval to request GMEBS to draft the necessary documents for 

the recommended changes to the employee pension plan.

- Page 284 -Item #10.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: March 23
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Please see attached memorandum requesting change to the pension benefit for
elected officials and to change from the ten year vesting period to a five year
vesting period.

Consider approval to request GMEBS to draft the necessary documents for the
recommended changes to the employee pension plan.

Pension Memo 02142023.docx

- Page 285 -Item #10.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1818586/Pension_Memo_02142023.pdf


At the strategic planning sessions held by the city council seventeen strategic goals were set.  Staff used 
these strategic goals as basis for the development of the budget.  (The Strategic Goals are listed on Page 
1 of the budget document) One of those strategic goals is “Modify and Enhance the Pension Plan”.

We began work on modifications to the pension plan and have recommended some small changes that 
can enhance the competiveness of our salary and benefits package without a large annual cost.  We had 
actuarial studies done on several different changes including an increase to the multiplier and crediting 
military service.  Each of these options would cost nearly a million dollars per year in actual budget 
impact.  This is not sustainable over the long term and is something that could not be rolled back if we 
see revenues drop off.

One of those changes we are recommending is a change to the vesting period.   Changing from a ten 
year vesting to a five year vesting will make us more competitive with the surrounding communities.  
The second change was a direct request by the City Council.  That change is to the benefit level for 
elected officials.  We can make the change from $20 to $25 with minimal budget impact.

Table 1 Elected Officials Pension Benefits from GMA District 12

Elected 
Officials 
Vesting

Elected 
Officials 
Benefit

Pooler Immediate $      35 
Port Wentworth Immediate $      25 

Garden City Immediate $      25 
Richmond Hill Immediate $      25 

Rincon $      25 
Statesboro Immediate $      35 

Thunderbolt Immediate $      15 
Tybee Island 4 years $      20 
Walthourville Immediate $      10 

Table 1 shows the elected official benefits from Cities in GMA District 12.  Tybee Island has one of the 
lower benefit levels but we do require the completion of a four year term for full vesting.  Most cities 
offer immediate vesting.  Rincon’s vesting period is unknown.

For employees the benefit gets more complicated.  We need to have a common understanding of a 
couple of pension terms.  The first term is a “Dynamic Break Point”.  I am unsure of the history of this 
mechanism for benefit calculation but my understanding is that it is an older method related to how 
social security was calculated.  It is a bit archaic now and we are going to have actuarial studies done to 
understand the cost of moving away from that method. 

The dynamic break point is a dollar amount set by the IRS each year.  Each year this amount increases 
and is approximately $90,000 this year.  For the City of Tybee pension plan an employee’s pension 
benefit is calculated by averaging the annual salary for the employees five highest earning years.  Let’s 

- Page 286 -Item #10.



assume that the average salary for employee A is $50,000.  They do not reach the dynamic break point 
so their benefit is (1.5% X $50,000) X (Years of Service).

If Employee A has 20 years of service the annual pension benefit would be:

(1.5% X $50,000) X (20) = $15,000.

Now, let’s assume Employee B’s high five average is $100,000, the dynamic break point is $90,000 and 
they have 20 years of service.  The annual pension benefit would be calculated as follows:

((1.5% X $90,000) + (2.0% X $10,000)) X (20) = ($1,350 + $200) X (20) = $31,000

The benefit for the higher salary is more than double because the higher multiplier on the portion of the 
salary that is greater than $90,000

Table 2 Cities from GMA District 12 and Savannah Pension Benefits

Requires 
Participant 
Contribution

Employee 
Vesting 
Period Multiplier COLA

Pooler Yes 5 3% 1.50%
Port Wentworth No 5 1% to 1.75% 5%

Garden City Yes 5 2%

Richmond Hill
Yes 5

1.48% to 2.36% for Reg 
Employee (2.40% for 

Police) 5%
Rincon No 5 1.5% to 2% Dynamic

Statesboro Yes 5 2% 5%
Thunderbolt No 5 1.50%

Tybee Island No 10 1.5% to 2% Dynamic 3%
Walthourville No 5 1.25%

Woodbine No 5 1.25% 5%

- Page 287 -Item #10.



Savannah

Yes (6.65%) 5

The amount is based on 
years of credited service 
and on Final Average 
Earnings, as follows: 2.1% 
of Final Average Earnings 
x years of service earned 
prior to January 1, 2000, 
plus 2.3% of Final Average 
Earnings x years of service 
earned after January 1, 
2000 (maximum of 
combined total 30 years), 
plus 1% of Final Average 
Earnings x service in 
excess of 30 years. 5%

Comparing pension benefits can get complicated because of the varying degree in which benefits are 
calculated in different cities.  Table 2 shows some of the pension parameters from cities in GMA district 
12 and Savannah. (Savannah does not participate in the GMA plan)

Compared to other cities we are less competitive in two or three different plan parameters.  First is the 
vesting period.  Tybee is the only municipality in the area that has a vesting period of 10 years.  Every 
other city has a vesting period of 5 years.   Tybee’s vesting period is graduated.  You get 50% vesting at 
five years then it increase 10% each year until full vesting at year 10.  The cities with 5 year vesting 
periods have “Cliff Vesting”.  That is, the employee has zero vesting until 5 years when they are 100% 
vested.

Another parameter is the multiplier.  Our multiplier is a little lower than some other cities but the 
dynamic break point calculation can make this harder to understand and harder to compare directly 
with other cities.  We also must consider the COLA. Tybee has a 3% COLA where most of the cities in our 
region have a 5% COLA.  Please also look at the participant contribution column.  Tybee does not require 
the employee to contribute to the plan. Other cities with higher multipliers do require the employee to 
contribute to the plan.  This further complicates an apples to apples comparison of the annual benefit.  
To complicate it even further the City of Pooler has a 3% multiplier but have opted to not participate in 
Social Security.  

Longer vesting period do not incentivize employees to stay longer.  It can actually incentivize employees 
to leave for a city with a richer plan and shorter vesting period.  At year four, a Tybee employee has no 
benefit from the pension plan and no incentive to stay.  The employee can leave for another city and be 
fully vested in that City’s pension before they would have been fully vested in Tybee’s pension plan.  If 
we want to be more competitive with other cities we need make changes of this nature to our plan.  

The annual cost of the change to five year vesting is under $20,000 so it is affordable and gives a lot of 
benefit bang for the buck. We have also looked at changes to the benefit multiplier.  We had an 
actuarial analysis done to determine the annual cost of moving away from the 1.5% - 2% dynamic 
multiplier to a straight 1.75%.  The annual cost of this change is $845,000.  

- Page 288 -Item #10.



We felt it was prudent to seek the less expensive change that can help with recruitment and retention 
and seek additional information on options to make the benefit multiplier richer.   We are having an 
actuarial study done to determine the cost of changing the benefit multiplier to 2%.  Obviously the 
annual cost will be greater than $845,000.

Other terms we need to have a common definition of are “Defined Benefit” and “Defined Contribution”.

A defined benefit plan is a traditional pension plan that Tybee Island currently has with GMA.  The 
annual benefits are guaranteed regardless of a return on investments made on behalf of the pension 
plan. A defined contribution plan is a 401k type plan.  For governments it would be a 401a plan.   With 
this type of plan the contributions to the plan are defined and the pension benefits are subject to 
change depending on the performance of the investments.  

I have been a part of the transition from a defined benefit plan to a defined contribution plan in two 
different cities.  This is a long process and does not necessarily translate to reduced costs.   It does make 
a big difference to the employer because upon retirement the cost of the employee ends.  Typically 401 
plans are portable meaning the employee can take both their contributions and the employer’s 
contributions with them if they decide to leave.  

Arguably switching to this sort of plan could make us less competitive with the other cities in the region.  
Employees like knowing that they will have a pension in retirement and like the certainty of the 
traditional plans.  Also the portability of the defined contribution plans make it less of an incentive to 
stay with the city.

We should examine the concept of a defined contribution plan but perhaps focus on a way to enhance 
our traditional plan.  We will be meeting with the GMA staff to discuss this and look at what options are 
available. We currently offer a 457 plan for employees that is voluntary.  The city cannot make 
contributions to a 457 on behalf of the employee like can be done with 401 plans.  We will gather 
additional information and bring to the city council.

Based on input from the Fire Chief, Police Chief, HR director and GMA staff we ask you to approve the 
request to have GMEBS draft the documents to make the change to the City Council benefit and to 
change from a ten year graduated vesting to a five year cliff vesting.  The change to the vesting period 
will increase our competiveness for recruitment and retention of employees and will not harm any 
employee that is already vested.

- Page 289 -Item #10.



File Attachments for Item:

11. TIMSC Portable Restroom - Agreement with Royal Restrooms

- Page 290 -Item #11.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: March 23
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

Once the budget amendment is approved the money will be transferred to
Account Number 100-4210-52-2201and we will enter into a rental agreement with
Royal Restrooms for the rental of a 4-stall portable restroom trailer for use by the
Marine Science Center until permanent restrooms can be constructed.

Since the portable restrooms were not budgeted in the FY2023 budget, I am
requesting that the Council approve both the budget amendment for $40,000 to
cover the cost of the rental agreement for a portable restroom trailer at the
Marine Science Center and the rental agreement with Royal Restrooms.  This
rental agreement will remain in place until permanent restroom facilities can be
built at the Marine Science Center.

Rental of Portable Restrooms at MSC.docx
Budget Amendment for Portable Restrooms at MSC.xlsx
Contract addendum ao 3-29-22.docx
unsigned-contract-v1-Tybee-Island-Marine-Science-Center-228782296.pdf

- Page 291 -Item #11.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1844497/Rental_of_Portable_Restrooms_at_MSC.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1844498/Budget_Amendment_for_Portable_Restrooms_at_MSC.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1844499/Contract_addendum_ao_3-29-22.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1844501/unsigned-contract-v1-Tybee-Island-Marine-Science-Center-228782296.pdf


1

  City of Tybee Island
Memorandum

To: Shawn Gillen and City of Tybee Island City Council Members
From: Pete Gulbronson, City Engineer/Director of Infrastructure
Date: March 15, 2023
Re: Rental of Portable Restrooms at Marine Science Center

Background

The City owns the Mariner Science Center and has been approached to build permanent 
restrooms in the Marine Science Center.  These restrooms will need to be designed, bid out, 
and constructed.  Until these restrooms are built, we need to supply a portable restroom to 
accommodate all the visitors to the Marine Science Center. 

Overview

I have obtained a quote from Royal Restrooms on the lease of a 4-stall restroom trailer for a 9-
month rental agreement.  The cost of the rental agreement is $4,400/4 weeks and a one-time 
$250 delivery and set up fee.  We anticipate the rental will be needed from April, 2023 for 36-
week period.  The total cost for this rental agreement will be $39,600 for 9 rental cycles and the 
set fee of $250.00 for a total cost of $39,850.00.  The cost of the rental will come out of the Building 
Maintenance budget, Account Number 100-4210-52-2201.

Summary

Since this rental of the portable restrooms was not budgeted for in the approved Fiscal Year 2023
budget, a budget amendment will need to be performed to enter into this rental agreement and 
get the portable restrooms installed in a timely manner.  

Recommended Next Steps:

I would recommend the budget amendment for the lease of the portable restrooms and the award 
of the lease to Royal Restrooms in the amount of $39,850.00.

- Page 292 -Item #11.



Date Received by Finance:

Department:

Date:

Purpose:  

Adjusted

Department Account Description Account Number Current Budget (Expenditures) Budget Balance DECREASE ``` Budget Balance

General Fund Fund Balance 100-00-39-1300 0.00 0.00 0.00 40,000.00 (40,000.00)

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00

SUBTOTAL LINE ITEM DECREASES: 40,000.00$        xx

Department Account Description Account Number Current Budget (Expenditures) Budget Balance ``` INCREASE Budget Balance

Public Works Building Maintenance 100-4210-52-2201 122,500.00 59,568.40 62,931.60 40,000.00 102,931.60

0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00

SUBTOTAL LINE ITEM INCREASES: xx 40,000.00$      

Net Change 40,000.00$        40,000.00$      -$                

Signature : _____________________________________________  Date __________________

Was the Budget Amendment  Request approved by the City Council? YES          NO           N/A

     If yes, please indicate the date approval was given:  _____________________________

    Attach Copy of Agenda Item and minutes from the City Council Meeting Date:

Approved by: ___________________________________________  Date: __________________

LINE ITEM INCREASES

Signature of Finance Employee who Processed the Request:  

Rental of portable restrooms for the Marine Science Center from April, 
2023 for a 9 month period until until new restrooms can be built at the 
Marine Science Center.  Cost is $4,400 per 4 week period per contract 
for a 9 month lease + $250 set up fee

Budget Adjustment

Requested

LINE ITEM DECREASES

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA
  BUDGET LINE ITEM TRANSFER REQUEST FORM

Pete Gulbronson

Public Works

Submitted By:

3/15/2023

X

- Page 293 -Item #11.



- Page 294 -Item #11.



572.572.000.Forms - Contract Addendum

CONTRACT ADDENDUM
FOR CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND

AND __________________

Notwithstanding any other provision of the agreement and/or any other addendum to the agreement, 

the parties agree that the provisions of the contract attached hereto are modified, cancelled or removed to 

the extent inconsistent with the provisions of this addendum:

1. In all instances the provisions of O.C.G.A. 36-60-13 shall control such that any obligation on the 

part of the City shall cease without condition in the absence of renewal at the end of the fiscal year 

or calendar year as applicable.

2. The contract is limited to a twelve-month term subject to automatic renewals.

3. There is no obligation on the part of the City to indemnify any other party, including any other 

contracted party, as such provisions are not valid under Georgia law. 

4. The provisions and performances under this agreement and addendum shall be governed by the 

laws of the State of Georgia and any applicable federal law.  Any and all disputes which might 

arise under the terms of the agreement, the addendum or the transaction between the parties shall 

be resolved in the states and federal courts located within Chatham County in the State of Georgia, 

including, but not limited to, the US District Court for the Southern District of Georgia, Savannah 

Division.

5. The City of Tybee Island does not waive the right to trial by jury on any dispute.

6. The City does not authorize the use of its name or logo in any contracting party’s marketing or 

promotional activities in the absence of a specific authorization following the contracting party’s 

making such promotional or marketing activities known and available to the City. The City shall 

have 10 days following the receipt of such information or material within which to approve or 

disapprove the use of its name or logo and the failure to the City to respond that such promotional 

or marketing is permissible, it shall be deemed a rejection and the use shall not be permitted.

7. For any insurance requirement imposed upon the City, the City may satisfy its obligations by 

having coverage with the Georgia Interlocal Risk Management Program.

8. The undersigned, Contractor and/or Sub-Contractor, acknowledges notice by the City of 

Tybee Island that work is frequently done pursuant to contractual arrangements where 

permitting by state or federal authorities is required in light of environmentally sensitive 

areas, including but not limited to, beaches, sand dunes, marsh and wetland areas, among 

others, and that permits are usually required for work performed in such areas.  It is the 

Contractor and/or Sub-Contractor’s responsibility to ensure it has secured copies of any 

permits issued for work in environmentally sensitive areas and that it will comply with all 

- Page 295 -Item #11.



572.572.000.Forms - Contract Addendum

permitting requirements in connection with the performance of its responsibilities under 

any agreement with the City of Tybee Island or any entity working on behalf of the City of 

Tybee Island and will hold the City of Tybee Island harmless for any claims, fines, 

demands or assertions, including attorney's fees, for alleged non-compliance with the terms 

of any permit issued by a federal or state agency in connection with the work to be 

performed.  The Contractor and/or Sub-Contractor is responsible for making inquiry as to 

the existence of any such permits and to take all appropriate action in connection therewith.

VENDOR

By:________________________________

___________________________________
Printed Name

_______________ ________________
Title Date

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA

By:___________________________________

______________________________________
Date

Attest:________________________________

           

- Page 296 -Item #11.



QUOTE
Quote #228782296

Royal Restrooms
2403 US-80 West
Garden City, GA 31408
P: (912) 234-6800
F: (912) 964-1228
savannah@royalrestrooms.com
RoyalRestrooms.com

Kym McCarty
(912) 234-6800
kym@royalrestrooms.com

Contact
Pete Gulbronson
(912) 472-5041
peter.gulbronson@cityoftybee.org

Business / Org
City of Tybee Island

Notes
The contract total is at a zero dollar amount. Initial contract is for
approval/signature only. Client will be invoiced monthly for each 4-week
rental cycle. Please see line item descriptions for charges.

Client responsible for daily bathroom cleaning, restocking, and routine
bathroom maintenance, such as clearing toilet clogs. Royal Restrooms
service tech will leave extra supply of toilet paper, hand soap, and
paper hand towels with each pumping visit.

Event Information
TYB Marine Science Center Bathroom Construction: March 15 -
December 31, 2023
Wednesday, Mar 15 - Sunday, Dec 31, 2023

Location / Venue
Tybee Island Marine Science Center
37 Meddin Dr, Tybee Island, GA 31328

Day of Contact
Pete Gulbronson
(912) 472-5041

Rental Items 3/15/2023 - 12/31/2023

Logistics  

Make checks payable to:
Royal Restrooms, LLC

PO Box 13605, Savannah, GA 31416
Memo: Invoice #228782296

Totals  
*Additional payment processing fees may apply for credit card payments 
*Additional payment processing fees may apply for e-check/ACH
payments 

Subtotal
Tax

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

Due on Signature $0.00
$0.00

 Description Qty Unit Total

SAV4A
4-Stall Restroom Trailer with 4 Unisex, Private Half Bathrooms.
$4,400/4 weeks. Includes vacuum pump once/week. Additional
servicing is $225/visit. Restroom trailer must be set up within 100
feet of a water spigot and within 100 feet of a dedicated 20 AMP
outlet. We supply the water hoses and electrical cords. Client
responsible for direct connect to sewer. Driver can help facilitate this
at setup.

1 $0.00 $0.00

Delivery/Setup/Pickup
$250 One-Time Charge 1 $0.00 $0.00

 Description Qty Unit Total

Standard Drop-Off (Drop-Off)
Wednesday, 3/15 [TBD]
37 Meddin Dr, Tybee Island, GA 31328

1 $0.00 $0.00

Standard Pickup (Pickup)
Sunday, 12/31 [TBD]
37 Meddin Dr, Tybee Island, GA 31328

1 $0.00 $0.00

3/1/2023 11:24 AM EST - TYB Marine Science Center Bathroom Construction: March 15 - December 31, 2023 (#228782296) 1 of 4

- Page 297 -Item #11.



Terms & Conditions
                                               Long Term Rental Contract Terms and Conditions
                                                                        Royal Restrooms, LLC
 
 
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into, by and between, Royal Restrooms, LLC, hereinafter referred to as Supplier, whose billing and
scheduling office address is PO Box 13605, Savannah GA 31416, and the Customer, whose information is described in the associated Rental
Contract. The following Terms and Conditions are in effect and binding when the Customer signs a Contract. 
 
1.     SITE REQUIREMENTS / RESTRICTIONS:
1. Optimal Unit placement is on hard, flat and level (end to end and side to side) surface, such as asphalt or concrete drive/parking lot. Supplier is
not responsible for damages to landscaping if Units must be placed on soft surface, such as grass.
2. Access within 100 feet to water source (outdoor water faucet/access with minimum 40 psi). Additional charges apply for water provided by
Supplier.
3. Access within 100 feet to power supply. Most Units require (1) dedicated 20 AMP outlet. Customer will be advised if additional outlets are
required based on the Unit rental. If power is not available at the Customer’s location for a long-term rental, the Customer is responsible for
supplying an alternative power source.
4. Power and water must be operational at time of delivery. If power and water are not available to test-run the Units at time of delivery and a
return trip is necessary, an additional charge will be applied.
5. No overhanging limbs or shrubbery restricting access and installation areas.
6. Site must have sufficient area to maneuver Units into place (Unit and truck together) and be clear of objects, i.e., vehicles, tents, trailers, etc.,
that may hinder access to Unit placement, pickup, or servicing. Additional charges apply for standby/wait time.
7. If site requirements are in question by either party, Supplier will conduct a complimentary site visit with Customer before rental.
 
2.     SUPPLIER RESPONSIBILITY:
1. Units will be delivered fully stocked with ample paper toiletries (toilet paper, hand soap, and hand towels) for the duration of a one-day rental
unless other arrangements are made.
2. Units will be clean, disinfected, and fresh upon arrival.
3. Supplier will set up Units and make all power and water connections.
4. Supplier will instruct customer on operation of the Units.
5. Units will be removed at the scheduled time unless other arrangements are made.
 
3.     CUSTOMER RESPONSIBILITY:
1. A Customer representative must be at the site at time of delivery.
2. Customer is responsible for plumbing connections to sewer and on-going maintenance of connects to sewer if the Units are to be hard piped at
setup. Arrangements must be made for hard piping at time of rental.
3. Customer is responsible for all damages the Units incur during the full rental term once they have been set up and deemed operational.
4. Customer is responsible for having a representative monitor the Units during the rental to ensure smooth operation of the Units, i.e., restocking
toiletries, picking up trash, checking fixtures for continuously running water, and checking toilets to be sure they are flushed and free of clogs. 
5. Customer is responsible for immediately notifying Royal Restrooms by calling the office at 912.234.6800 to report technical problems with the
Units, i.e., fixtures continuously running or not working, A/C or heat not working, leaks, etc.
6. Customer is responsible for daily bathroom cleaning and routine bathroom maintenance, such as clearing toilet clogs, between scheduled
service visits. If Supplier is called to address bathroom cleaning or toilet clogs outside of scheduled service visits, additional service charges will
apply.   
7. Customer is responsible for leaving Units under normal wear and tear conditions before pickup. In some cases, Customer may be asked to turn
off power and water when Units are not in use and/or lock Unit doors for security purposes.
 
4.     SERVICING AND BATHROOM CLEANING:
Standard service visits include waste pumping, light bathroom cleaning, and supply restock of toilet paper, hand towels, and hand soap. The
customer is responsible for daily bathroom cleaning between regularly scheduled service visits. Service schedules will be established at time of
rental. Additional charges apply for bathroom deep cleaning visits.
 
5.      DELIVERY, SETUP AND REMOVAL:  
Supplier will have no responsibility or liability for any delay or failure of delivery that is not the fault of Supplier. Prior to delivery and removal,
Supplier and Customer will coordinate a delivery/removal time that is acceptable to both parties. If the setup or removal is delayed for reasons
caused by the Customer, Supplier will charge an additional $75.00 per hour for standby time.  In addition, if delivery or pickup is required by the
Customer or venue outside of regular business hours, on a weekend, or holiday, additional charges will apply and should be coordinated with the
Supplier prior to the rental.
   
6.      RENTAL RATE AND PAYMENT: 
The pricing on the Contract represents the original order with the Customer. If the rental exceeds the order dates on the contract, or if further
services or change orders are required, additional charges will apply. Depending on the length of the rental term, monthly invoicing will be
implemented.  Customer shall pay to Supplier the rental amount due according to the invoice(s) associated with the Rental Contract and including
sales tax where applicable. Payment in full of event rentals is due 30 days prior to Unit delivery unless other arrangements are made. Payments
shall be paid to the Supplier billing office at: P.O. Box 13605, Savannah GA 31416 or using any major credit card. The Customer is responsible for
paying credit card processing and transfer fees. Customer may choose to pay by check to avoid paying credit card processing and transfer fees.
Checks should be made payable to Royal Restrooms, LLC and mailed to the above post office box address.
 
7.     SECURITY DEPOSIT: 
Customer will make a non-interest-bearing security deposit in the amount of 25% of the first monthly rental invoice amount to insure the full and
faithful performance by the Customer of all the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Supplier does not have responsibility to save the date and
will fill the event date with another customer if the security deposit payment is not made in full within 30 days following the date of the rental

3/1/2023 11:24 AM EST - TYB Marine Science Center Bathroom Construction: March 15 - December 31, 2023 (#228782296) 2 of 4

- Page 298 -Item #11.



agreement. The security deposit will be applied against the first rental invoice total. 
  
8.     LATE CHARGES AND RETURNED CHECKS: 
If the complete rental amount is not paid according to the terms of the rental agreement, Customer agrees to pay a late charge of $25.00 or 2% of
the outstanding balance per month, whichever is greater. Customer agrees to pay a $50.00 charge for any returned check.
 
9.     WASTE DISPOSAL: 
Additional waste disposal (waste pumping) outside of the regular scheduled service visits will incur an additional charge. 
 
10.    UTILITIES: 
Customer shall be responsible for all utility charges including, but not limited to, water, electricity, and waste disposal fees, which shall be incurred
for the rental of each unit of portable restrooms or showers as shown on the invoice(s).   
 
11.    EQUIPMENT AND SUPPLIES:  
All electrical cords, water hoses, and unit contents (décor, rugs, trash cans, etc.) brought by Supplier are the property of Supplier and must be
returned. If any equipment owned by Supplier is not returned at the rentals end, the Customer is responsible for any replacement costs incurred by
the Supplier, including time to acquire such item(s).
 
12.    REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE: 
Customer accepts the Units in the present condition, for the uses and purposes described herein. Customer agrees to maintain the Units in good
condition and repair, natural and normal wear and tear excepted. While the Unit(s) is in the Customer’s possession, the Customer is responsible
for routine bathroom maintenance, such as keeping bathrooms clean, sanitized, and clear of toilet clogs. Additional charges apply for service calls
for repairs/maintenance requests that are unrelated to equipment malfunction. 
 
13.    DAMAGES TO PROPERTY: 
Customer shall pay all costs for damage to the Units that (i) occurs during Customer’s use or possession of the Units, or (ii) is caused by Customer
or any of Customer’s servants, guests, agents, or invitees, whether resulting from negligence, lack of care, abuse or ordinary use. Once the Units
are left at the Customer’s site, the Units are the full responsibility of the Customer. Customer is responsible for keeping the Units safe from all
damage, theft, or any other harm or ill use. 
-       No smoking is allowed in the Units. A minimum $300.00 charge plus costs for damages will be assessed if evidence proves that smoking
has occurred in the Units. 
-       Customer shall not move or alter the Units. A $300.00 charge plus costs for damages will be assessed if the Customer moves the Units
without the Supplier’s prior written approval. If a Unit move is required, the Customer shall notify the Supplier, and if possible, the Supplier will
schedule the Units to be moved at an additional charge. 
-       No tape or adhesives are permitted for use on or inside the Units. A minimum $300 charge plus costs for damages will be assessed if
tape/adhesive is applied to the Units. The Supplier will provide temporary signage with approved application per request by the Customer at no
additional charge.
-       Any other damages incurred while the Units are in the Customer’s possession are the responsibility of the Customer.
 
14.    USE AND OCCUPANCY:
The Units shall be used for portable restroom and portable shower purposes only. Customer is not to put the Units to any use which is illegal,
creates a nuisance, or causes the rate of insurance on the property to increase. Customer shall use the Units in a careful and proper manner, in
accordance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and any manufacturer's or supplier's instructions. All local and state law must be followed
and any disputes including lawsuits are subject to the laws and regulations as set by local governments.  
 
15.    ASSIGNMENT: 
Customer shall not sublet the whole or any part of the Units, nor reassign this Agreement or any interest therein, without the prior written consent
of the Supplier. A violation of this covenant shall constitute a breach of this Agreement, in which case the Customer shall forfeit the term and the
Supplier will have the right to terminate and seek restitution.
 
16.   LIABILITY AND INJURY: 
Customer expressly agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Supplier from all damages to property or injury to person suffered in or with
respect to the Units during or by virtue of Customer’s use, possession or operation of the Units, whether resulting from negligence, lack of care,
abuse or ordinary use. This indemnity shall extend to damage, injury, losses, claims, suits, judgments or actions arising from the negligence of
Customer or its servants, guests, agents, invitees, or anyone Customer controls or employs, or who is near or in the Units, or for damage or injury
resulting from the use of the Units or entry or egress into or from such Units. If Supplier is not able to deliver possession to Customer on the
effective date of this Agreement due to a Force Majeure Event, Supplier shall not be responsible for any damages of Customer and are hereby
released from liability. Once the Units are delivered the Customer is responsible for keeping the Units safe from theft or vandalism or any other
damages.
 
17.   DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES; HOLD HARMLESS:
Supplier represents and warrants that the Units are functioning portable restrooms or showers. Subject to the foregoing, each Unit is provided and
accepted “as-is, where-is,” without express or implied warranties. Except as expressly provided herein, Supplier shall not have any liability for any
direct, indirect, consequential or incidental damages arising out of this agreement or with respect to the Units.           
 
18.   NON-PAYMENT:  
If Customer fails to make payments as specified in this contract, Supplier may peruse all remedies available by law or in equity, including
termination of this agreement without notice, repossession of the equipment without legal process, and recovery of all monies owed.  Customer will
be responsible for all costs to recover the payment including attorney fees and expenses, time involved for Supplier, and any shipping, copying
costs, etc.
 
19.   CANCELATIONS:  

3/1/2023 11:24 AM EST - TYB Marine Science Center Bathroom Construction: March 15 - December 31, 2023 (#228782296) 3 of 4

- Page 299 -Item #11.



Signature

Printed Name

Date  

Supplier will cancel any reservation and return all monies paid by Customer, minus the 25% deposit, if Customer cancels this Agreement 30 days
or more of the delivery date. No refund is available if Customer cancels within 30 days of the delivery date. If cancelation, regardless of cancel
date, is a result of a Force Majeure event (as defined below), Supplier will refund all money paid by Customer minus a $100.00 administrative fee.
If a canceled event needs to be rescheduled, Customer has the option to reschedule and apply all money paid to the rescheduled event date. If
Supplier cancels this Agreement or is unable to perform its obligations under this Agreement and such failure is not due to a Force Majeure Event,
Suppliers shall, at no additional cost to Customer, assist Customer in finding an alternate source of Units of comparable quality.
 
20.   FORCE MAJEURE:
The performance of this Agreement is subject to termination without liability upon the occurrence of any circumstance beyond the reasonable
control of either Party such as acts of God, war, government regulations, disaster, excessive elements of nature, pandemics, strikes, or civil
disorder (“Force Majeure Event”). The ability to terminate this agreement without liability pursuant to this paragraph is conditioned upon delivery of
written notice to the other party setting forth the basis for such termination as soon as reasonably practical. 
 
21.   RETURN OF UNITS:
Customer is responsible for returning the Units to Supplier in good repair, condition, and working order. Upon return and inspection of Units,
additional charges will be assessed for extensive cleaning (minimum $300.00 per Unit), damages, and/or repairs, if applicable. Normal wear and
tear is acceptable.
 
***We appreciate your business and value your rental experience with us. If you have any issues or questions while you have one of our
rental units, please call us immediately at 912.234.6800. We are on call after hours and weekends to assist you.***
 

Payment Policy
All debts owed for this contract are due within 30 days of the events conclusion. 

Additional fees will apply for:

Credit card payments
E-check/ACH payments
Affirm payments

3/1/2023 11:24 AM EST - TYB Marine Science Center Bathroom Construction: March 15 - December 31, 2023 (#228782296) 4 of 4

- Page 300 -Item #11.



File Attachments for Item:

12.  Public Works and Georgia Power to replace 32 streetlights along Tybrisa and Strand 

Avenue for $350,000.

- Page 301 -Item #12.



AGENDA ITEM
CITY COUNCIL MEETING: March 23
 

ATTACHMENTS

 
 
 
 
 

The Main Street program has worked with Public Works and Georgia Power to
replace 32 streetlights along Tybrisa and Strand Avenue for $350,000.

Approval to move forward with the project

streetlight memo 2-23-23.docx
Illumination Contract (GPC)_03-15-2023_14-36-58-.pdf
Tybee Island (Roadway)v4 .pdf

- Page 302 -Item #12.

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1844738/streetlight_memo_2-23-23.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1844237/Illumination_Contract__GPC__03-15-2023_14-36-58-.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1844238/Tybee_Island__Roadway_v4_.pdf


RFP 2023-771 Disaster Debris Removal Award Memo Crowder Gulf

  City of Tybee Island
Memo Street Lighting
To: City of Tybee Island City Council Members
From: Michelle Owens, Assistant City Manager
Date: March 15, 2023
Re: Georgia Power Lighting Proposal

Background
The City of Tybee Island Main Street/Development Authority has worked with the Department of 
Public Works and Georgia Power to replace 32 streetlights on Tybrisa Street and Strand 
Avenue. The current light poles are outdated and no longer available from Georgia Power. 
When a light pole is damaged or destroyed, they have to be special ordered and takes 
approximately 16 weeks to receive. The new lights are sturdier and turtle-friendly. 

Overview
 The cost for the light poles and installation is $350,000
 The Main Street Board of Directors and Department of Public Works selected the

appropriate pole style from Georgia Power’s current offerings
 Georgia Power will develop a timeline to install the streetlights with Main Street and Pubic

Works.

Summary
Replacement of light poles has been a long-term goal for the city. The $350,000 is in the FY24  
Capital Fund budget. The signed agreement is necessary to move forward on the project

Recommended Next Steps:
Administration recommends that the City Council approve the Georgia Power Lighting 
Agreement to purchase 32 new light poles for Tybrisa Street and Strand Avenue.

- Page 303 -Item #12.



Lighting Services Agreement

Customer Legal Name

Mailing Address
Service Address

Tax ID#
Email

DBA
County

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND TOWN HALL                   
401 BUTLER AVE  TYBEE ISLAND GA 31328 Chatham - GA
PO BOX 2749  TYBEE ISLAND GA 31328

cassidi.kendrick@cityoftybee.gov Tel # 912-472-5103 Alt Tel # 912-472-5070
0661 Business Description Roadway Lighting

Existing 
Customer

If Yes (and if possible), does customer want 
the Service added to an existing account?

If Yes, which 
Account Number?

Selected Components
Action Qty Wattage Type Description

INS 32 100 LED Post Top

Service Cost ($) Regulated Cost ($)* Monthly Cost ($)*
$916.48 $0.00 $916.48

Project Notes:

Type Customer Tariff Content
NEC Gov EOL NLC

Customer Authorization Georgia Power Authorization
Signature: Signature:
Print Name: Print Name: Nealy Scott
Print Title: Print Title: Account Exec
Date: Date:

Customer agrees to this Lighting Services Agreement with Georgia Power Company under the attached terms and conditions and authorizes all actions 
noted on this agreement. 
Customer also agrees to allow removal of existing lights.  Yes þ  N/A ¨

* The actual Regulated Cost will be calculated using the tariffs approved by Georgia Public Service Commission at the time of billing. The estimate is based 
on Summer Rates in effect at the time of this proposal. Excludes applicable sales tax.

Customer recognizes that the individual signing this Agreement on its behalf has authority to do so.

Term (Months) 1

Yes ¨ No þYes þ No ¨

Pre-Payment ($)
$350,000.00

1

- Page 304 -Item #12.



Gov Lease                                        Page 2 of 2                     11/04/2019 

TERMS and CONDITIONS (Lighting – Governmental Lease) 

1. Agreement Scope. This Lighting Services and Lease Agreement (“Agreement”) establishes the terms and conditions under which Georgia Power Company (“GPC”) will provide lighting and 
related service (collectively, the “Service”) to the customer identified on Page 1 (“Customer”) at the Service Address shown on Page 1 (the “Premises”). GPC may install, update, modify, or 
replace any GPC-owned pole, base, wiring, conduit, fixture, control, equipment, device, or related item at the Premises (collectively, “Equipment”) for any reason related to the Service or to 
use of Equipment. 

2. Term and Termination. The initial Agreement term is stated on Page 1, calculated from the date of the first bill. After the initial term, this Agreement automatically renews on a month-to-month 
basis until terminated by either party by providing written notice of intent to terminate to the other party (in accordance with the notice provisions of the Miscellaneous section below) at least 30 
days before the desired termination date. The initial term and any renewal term or terms are collectively the “Term.” 

3. Intent and Title. This Agreement governs GPC’s lease of Equipment and provision of the Service to Customer and is not a sale or licensing of goods, equipment, property, or assets of any kind. 
GPC retains the sole and exclusive right, title, and interest in and to all Equipment. Customer acknowledges that Equipment, although attached to real property, always will remain the exclusive 
personal property of GPC and that GPC may remove Equipment upon Agreement termination. GPC makes no representation or warranty regarding treatment of this transaction by the 
Internal Revenue Service or the status of this transaction under any federal or state tax law. Customer enters into this Agreement in sole reliance upon its own advisors. 

4. Payment. GPC will invoice Customer monthly for the Monthly Cost as described on Page 1. The Service Cost portion of the Monthly Cost will renew at the amount shown on Page 1, but the 
Regulated Cost portion will be determined by the applicable Georgia Public Service Commission-approved tariff at the time of billing. Customer agrees to pay the total amount billed in full by 
the invoice due date. If a balance is outstanding past the due date, Customer acknowledges that GPC may require Customer to pay a deposit of up to two times the Estimated Monthly charge 
in order to continue Service. If applicable, Customer must provide a copy of its Georgia sales tax exemption certificate. Customer must pay costs associated with any Customer-initiated 
change to the Service after the date of this Agreement. 

5. Premises Activity. Customer hereby grants to GPC and its contractors, agents, and representatives the right and license to enter the Premises at any time to perform any activity related to 
the Service or to GPC’s use of the Equipment, including the right to access the Premises with vehicles, Equipment, or other tools, and to survey, dig, or excavate, in order to: (i) install and 
connect Equipment, provide Service, or provide or install any other service; (ii) inspect, maintain, test, replace, repair, disconnect, or remove Equipment; (iii) install additional equipment or 
devices on Equipment; or (iv) conduct any other activity reasonably related to the Service or Equipment (collectively, “GPC Activity”). Customer represents or warrants that it has the right to 
permit GPC to provide the Service, to install the Equipment, and to perform the GPC Activity upon the Premises and, if applicable, has obtained express written authority and required 
permission from all Premises owners, and any other person or entity with rights in the Premises, to enter into this Agreement and to authorize the GPC Activity and the Service. 

6. Installation and Underground Work. Customer recognizes that the Service may require installation of Equipment. Customer warrants or covenants that: (i) the Premises’ final grade will vary 
no more than six inches from the grade existing at the time of installation; and (ii) if applicable and required for proper installation, Premises property lines will be clearly marked before 
installation. 

A. Customer Work. If GPC, upon Customer’s request, allows Customer, itself or through a third party, to perform any activity related to installation of Equipment (including trenching), 
Customer warrants or covenants that the work will meet GPC’s installation specifications (which GPC will provide to Customer and which are incorporated by this reference). 
Customer must provide GPC at least 10 days’ prior written notice of its schedule for the work, so that GPC can schedule GPC’s installation work promptly thereafter. Customer will be 
responsible for any additional costs arising from non-compliance with GPC’s specifications, Customer’s failure to complete Customer’s work by the agreed completion date, or failure 
to provide GPC timely notice of any schedule change. 

B. Underground Facility/Obstruction Not Subject to Dig Law. Because GPC Activity may require excavation not subject to the Georgia Utility Facility Protection Act (O.C.G.A. §§25-
9-1 – 25-9-13) (“Dig Law”), Customer must mark any private utility or facility (e.g., gas/water/sewer line; irrigation facility; fiber/data/communication line) or other 
underground obstruction at the Premises that is not subject to the Dig Law. If GPC causes or incurs damage due to Customer’s failure to mark a private facility or obstruction 
before GPC commences GPC Activity, Customer is responsible for all damages and any loss or damage resulting from any delay. 

C. Unforeseen Condition. The estimated charges shown on Page 1 include no allowance for subsurface rock, wetland, underground stream, buried waste, unsuitable soil, underground 
obstruction, archeological artifact, burial ground, threatened or endangered species, hazardous substance, or similar condition (“Unforeseen Condition”). If GPC encounters an 
Unforeseen Condition in connection with any GPC Activity, GPC, in its sole discretion, may stop all GPC Activity until Customer either remedies the condition or agrees to reimburse 
all GPC costs arising from the condition. Customer is responsible for all costs of modification or change to Equipment requested by Customer or dictated by an Unforeseen Condition 
or circumstance outside GPC’s control. 

7. Equipment Protection and Damage. Throughout the Term, in the event of any work or digging near Equipment, Customer (or any person or entity working on Customer’s behalf) must: (i) provide 
notices and locate requests to the Georgia Utilities Protection Center (“UPC”) and other utility owners or operators as required by the then-current Dig Law; (ii) coordinate with the UPC and any utility 
facility owner/operator as required by the Dig Law; and (iii) comply with the High-voltage Safety Act (O.C.G.A. §§46-3-30 -- 46-3-40). As between Customer and GPC, Customer is responsible for any 
damage arising from failure to comply with applicable law or for damage to Equipment caused by anyone other than GPC or a GPC contractor, agent, or representative. 

8. Pole Attachments. Nothing in this Agreement conveys to Customer any right to attach or affix anything to any Equipment. Customer agrees that it will not, and will not permit others to, 
rearrange, disconnect, remove, relocate, repair, alter, tamper with, or otherwise interfere with any Equipment. If Customer desires to attach or affix anything to Equipment, Customer must first 
obtain GPC’s written consent. Customer may call GPC Lighting and Smart Services business unit at 1-888-660-5890 to request consent. 

9. Interruption of Service. Customer understands that Service is provided on an “as is” and “as available” basis and may be interrupted. If there is a Service interruption, Customer must notify 
GPC. Following notice, GPC will restore Service, at no cost to Customer. Customer may notify GPC by either calling 1-888-660-5890 or by reporting online at: 
https://www.georgiapower.com/community/outages-and-stormcenter/power-outage-overview/street-light-outage.html. 

10. Maintenance. During the Term and subject to the other terms and conditions in this Agreement, GPC will maintain Equipment and will bear the cost of routine maintenance for all GPC-
installed components. Any non-routine maintenance can be done at Customer’s written request and will be billed to Customer at then-current GPC rates. Customer must notify GPC of any 
need for Equipment repair by contacting in writing GPC as provided in Section 9 above. If the Equipment damage was caused by Customer or a third party, Customer will reimburse GPC for 
the repair or replacement cost. 

11. Disclaimer; Damages. GPC makes no covenant, warranty, or representation of any kind (including warranty of fitness for a particular purpose, merchantability, or non-
infringement) regarding Service, Equipment, or any GPC Activity. Customer acknowledges that, due to the unique characteristics of the Premises, Customer’s needs, or selection of 
Equipment, the Service may not follow IESNA guidelines. Customer waives any right to consequential, special, indirect, treble, exemplary, incidental, punitive, loss of business 
reputation, interruption of Service, or loss of use (including loss of revenue, profits, or capital costs) damages in connection with loss or interruption of the Service, Equipment, 
or this Agreement, or arising from damage, hindrance, or delay involving the Service, Equipment, or this Agreement, whether or not reasonable, foreseeable, contemplated, or 
avoidable. To the extent GPC is liable under this Agreement, and to the extent allowed by applicable law, GPC’s liability is expressly limited to: (i) with respect to the Service purchased by 
Customer, the annual amount paid by Customer for the Service; or (ii) with respect to any other liability, to proven direct damages in an amount not to exceed $100.00. Customer is solely 
responsible for safety of the Premises; Customer agrees that GPC has no obligation to ensure safety of the Premises and that GPC has no liability for any personal injury, real or personal 
property damage or loss, or negative impact to Customer or any third party that occurs at the Premises. 

12. Risk Allocation. Each party will be responsible for its own acts and the results of its acts, except as otherwise described in this Agreement. 

13. Georgia Security, Immigration, and Compliance Act. Customer is a “public employer” as defined by O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91 and this is a contract for physical performance of services in 
Georgia. Compliance with O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91 is a condition of this Agreement and is mandatory. GPC will provide to Customer a contractor’s affidavit for installation services as required by 
O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91. If GPC employs any subcontractor in connection with installation under this Agreement, GPC also will secure from each subcontractor an affidavit attesting to compliance 
with O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91. 

14. Default. Customer is in default if Customer: (i) does not pay the entire amount owed to GPC within 45 days after the due date; (ii) terminates this Agreement without proper notice and prior to 
the end of the then-current Term; or (iii) breaches any material term, warranty, covenant, or representation of this Agreement. GPC’s waiver of a past or concurrent default will not waive any 
other default. If a default occurs, GPC may: (a) immediately terminate this Agreement; (b) remove any Equipment from the Premises; or (c) seek any available remedy provided by law, 
including the right to collect any past due amount or any amount due for the Service during the remaining Term. 

15. Miscellaneous. This Agreement contains the parties’ entire agreement relating to the Service, Equipment, and GPC Activity and replaces any prior agreement, written or oral. Subject to 
applicable law, GPC may modify the terms of this Agreement by providing 30 days’ prior written notice of such modification to Customer. If Customer uses the Service or makes any payment 
for the Service on or after the modification effective date, Customer accepts the modification. GPC’s address for notice is 1790 Montreal Circle, Tucker, GA 30084-6801; Customer’s address 
for notice is stated on Page 1. Either party may update administrative or contact information (e.g., address, phone, website) at any time by written notice to the other. Customer will not assign, 
in whole or in part, this Agreement or any right or obligation it has under this Agreement; any such assignment without GPC’s prior written consent will be void and of no effect. In this 
Agreement: (i) “include(ing)” means “include, but are not limited to” or “including, without limitation”; (ii) “or” means “either or both” (“A or B” means “A or B or both A and B”); (iii) “e.g.” 
means “for example, including, without limitation”; and (iv) “written” or “in writing” includes email communication. Georgia law governs this Agreement. If a court rules an Agreement 
provision unenforceable to any extent, the rest of that provision and all other provisions remain effective. 

2

- Page 305 -Item #12.



                

 

 

 

 

 
 

March 15, 2023 
 
City of Tybee Island 
401 Butler Ave 
Tybee Island, GA 31328 
 
Thank you for being a valued Georgia Power customer. We look forward to servicing your lighting needs. The following 
proposal is for installing new decorative lighting along Tybrisa & 18th street.  
 
Georgia Power Company proposes the following: 
 

Post-Top Lighting 
 

• Install (32) 100w Amber-LED Black Decorative Epic Area Fixtures. (DNR approved) 
 

• Install (32) 16’ Black Decorative York Poles. 
 

• Installation of all required pole wiring. 
 

• Install (32) Dusk to dawn smart lighting controls. 
 
Payment Option:  
 
Option 1: Upfront Payment Required 
 
The monthly bill amount for this lighting system will be $916.48. This monthly cost covers the installation and all 
ongoing maintenance of the lighting system. There will be an upfront charge of $350,000.00 associated with this 
installation. 
 
Option 2: No Upfront Payment Required 
 
The monthly bill amount for this lighting system will be $5,818.88. This monthly cost covers the installation and all 
ongoing maintenance of the lighting system. There will be no upfront charge associated with this installation. 
 
If you decide you use our lighting system; I will prepare the appropriate paperwork for you to sign. This proposal is valid 
for 30 days from the date of this letter.  
 
Should you have any questions, please call me at the number listed below. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
Nealy Scott 
Outdoor Lighting 
404-844-7574 
 

 

 

- Page 306 -Item #12.



File Attachments for Item:

13. Shawn Gillen:  Action Item List

- Page 307 -Item #13.



DATE ITEM RESPONSIBILITY STATUS

12/8/22

CM to set meeting with  Chatham ES on 

response times moving forward Shawn Meeting On March 3rd

12/8/22

Workshop needed to discuss Entertainment 

Licenses Shawn Waiting on Council

12/8/22

Dogs on the Beach:  more information 

needed and bring back to Mayor and Council

Shawn Completed

12/8/22

Resolution to Public Safety Committee for 

recommendations and review re:  Fire 

Inspector Shawn

We will proceed with current staffing.  No new ordinances needed 

at this time

1/26/23 Bathrooms/Marine Science Center Shawn

Portable Restroom will be coming to council for approval and 

budget amendment.  Design will begin for permanent 

1/26/23 Traffic controls/Johnny Mercer & Hwy 80 Shawn No Update.  Will be Scheduling

2/23/22 Update License Application Shawn

2/23/23 Update Private Parking "Application" Shawn

3/9/23 Committee to review Tree Ordinance Shawn

3/9/23 Review R-1 and R-2 multi-family units Shawn Bring update to Mayor and Council in 30 days - April 13

- Page 308 -Item #13.


	Top
	Item #1.	Jaime Spear:  Employee of the Year:  Danielle Bucher, Finance Department
	Item #2.	Minutes, City Council Meeting, March 9, 2023
	Minutes

	Item #3.	Presentation of the Tourism Economic Impact Study by Georgia Southern University Center for Business Analytics and Economic Research & EDA University Center Program
	Tourism Econ Impact Study

	Item #4.	Julie Livingston:  Golf Cart Safety
	[Untitled]

	Item #5.	Agenda Request: Frozen Daiquiri LLC dba The Daiquiri Bar: Alcohol and Entertainment License-Beer/Wine/Liquor - No Sunday Sales
	Agenda Request-Frozen Daiquiri LLC dba The Daiquiri Bar-2

	Item #6.	Agenda Request: Fin's Corner Pizza-Entertainment License
	Agenda Request-Fin's Corner Pizza-Entertainment License

	Item #7.	Approval for travel to Association of State Floodplain Managers Conference, Out of state travel to the ASFPM annual conference in Raleigh, NC. May 7-11, 2023 for George Shaw. Budget 52-3500
	Out of State Travel George Shaw Association of State Floodplain Managers Conference

	Item #8.	RFP 2023-771 Disaster Debris Removal
	Memo Contract Award Debris Removal (4862-1371-6311.1)
	Response - Crowder Gulf

	Item #9.	Budget Amendment - Legal Fees
	Final Budget Amendment

	Item #10.	Consider approval to request GMEBS to draft the necessary documents for the recommended changes to the employee pension plan.
	Pension Plan Changes

	Item #11.	TIMSC Portable Restroom - Agreement with Royal Restrooms
	TIMSC Portable Restrooms 3-23-23

	Item #12.	Public Works and Georgia Power to replace 32 streetlights along Tybrisa and Strand Avenue for $350,000.
	StreetLights Agenda Item 3-23-23

	Item #13.	Shawn Gillen:  Action Item List
	Action Item List

	Bottom

